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One question I have been frequent ly asked since writing the f irst edition of this book is: why wri te an 

introductory accounting textbook? 

First, I have been involved in teaching introductory financia l accounting for over 35 years. I enjoy 

trying to get across the int roductory concepts. Second, I have been surprised at t he d iffe rences 

between how introductory accounting is taught in most undergraduate programs and how it is 

taught in MBA courses in the United States and Australia. Thirty years ago there were good reasons 

for the differences, as most of our first-year undergraduate students were account ing majors. This is 

not the case today. Third, when I ask att endees at execut ive educat ion programs what their 

accounting background is, many respond that they did first-year accounting 1 0-plus years ago but 

found it boring! 

With this in mind, I tried to add to an undergraduate book some of the features t hat MBAs and 

executives seem to enjoy. We don't want our students returning in 10 years and suggesting our 

courses are boring! Talking about companies and relating the material to annual reports helps 

students to get interested. 

With all of the above in mind, we set about incorporating the following in the book. First, we 

have tried to make clear to students the importance of account ing information by frequent 

reference to current material. Second, as companies are the most common business organisations 

in Australia today, we start by writ ing about companies, rather than spending many int roductory 

chapters concentrating on sole traders. Thi rd, to keep th is book's material interesting and re levant, 

we have made frequent references to the content of annual reports. Students learn about real 

companies and can follow their performance in the newspapers or the share market if they wish. 

Fourth, we believe that the depth of technical knowledge in this book will challenge bot h 

accounting and non-accounting majors. 

The first edition of this textbook was adapted from the second edition of the best-selling 

Canadian introductory financial accounting textbook of the same name written by Michael Gibbins. 

In the Australian edition, we have added eight chapters as well as reorienting the material towards 

the Australian context. 

The most attractive features of the early editions have been retained: an easy-to-read style with a 

wealth of extracts from company annual reports, 'How's your understanding?' activi ty quest ions 

throughout each chapter, questions at the end of each chapter relating to real annual reports, as 

well as a set of cases with quest ions relating to the Woolworths Limited Annual Report 2017 

(appendix at the end of the book). 

Students should take advantage of the ancill ary material that goes wit h this book, in particular the 

CourseMate website, which includes revision quizzes, practice questions, annotated weblinks and 

much interactive material. A lso, the publisher has made available a suite of additiona l resou rces for 

instructors. Students may like to also obtain the accompanying Study Guide, which provides 

numerous additional quest ions. 

We trust that you will enjoy the book. 

Ken Trotman 

.. 
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• 

As you read this text you will find a number of features in every 
chapter to enhance your study of financial accounting, helping you 

to understand how the theory is applied in the real world. 

CHAPTER-OPENING FEATURES 

Introduction to 
financia l accounting 

CHAPTER OVERVIEW 

1 

Accounbng has been d&s<:1ibcd as the 'l&nguag~ of bus•neu'. II J)I'CMdes man:~ge•s with.n orgM•sat•ons tmd 

those outside the organisation (e.g. investors and creditors) with infonnation about the financial perfonTiance 

""d G,....,nci<'ll po::;ition of the bv$incss. ~c::g<'rdlcss of wht'lt typo of C<'ltCOf you purwt<t. "cwunting inform<'ltion 

will have •mportant effects on you. 

Thts ch~pter introduces yov to fint~ntial aocoonting and illustr;,tes some useh.ll ..ccounting concepts and 

te<:hnK:Jue-s. It outl.nes a way of thu'llung about fu'\anc.al &erounhl'lg that w1ll be •mpoitat~t to your eafeef, 

whether you become an accountant or a user of accounting in business or in other walks of life. We believe 

tNt ¢"Cry tTW~n.agcr i:~ 3 user of 30COI,mting infortTW~bQn but som¢ mttn3gers usc ;)OCOUnting inform3tion 

beuer than others. You are introduced to the social setting of financial accounting and wme of the peopie 
involvOO Fin.anor:::i;:~l <:~ocot,mting is <:omplex ;;.nd reqvires sovnd judgement OO<:<:~use it attempts to s.eMt the 
l'leec:k ol alt these people, not all of whom necessafl}y see th1ngs the satne way. You are thef'l lmrocbced to 

one of the comEW'$tones of how financial accounting worl<s: ac<:rual accounting, the broad framework within 

wh1ch f1nantit1l &eCOuf'lbn9 n~pons are prept~red. You M~ also •ntroduced to the three key 11nMCial 

statements and the basic financial statement assumptions. 

The learning objectives and 

chapter overview give you a 

clear sense of what topics each 

chapter will cover and what you 

should be able to do after 

reading the chapter. 

FEATURES WITHIN CHAPTERS 

How's your understanding activity questions throughout each chapter 

help you to reinforce your understanding of key concepts as you progress 

through the text, providing you with the opportunity to reflect on and revise 

important material. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

2A Which of the following items would be classified an asset in the balance sheet: 

• Cash at bank 
• Accounts receivable 
• Accounts payable 
• Buildings 
• Retained profits? 
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Guide to the text 

FOR YOUR INTEREST 

For your interest sections present intriguing insights into the accounting 

profession and bring a unique perspective to the concepts covered in each 

chapter. 

FOR YOUR INTEREST 

While we have GAAP, it is very important to consider the need to fit the accounting to the circumstances of the particular 
accounting entity. However, if you always changed everything to suit each organisation, there would be no standards left 
and no comparabi li ty to other organisations. If every course in the university used a unique grading system, you couldn't 
compare how you did in different courses, or compute a grade-point average. Here, very briefly, are three examples of 
accounting difficulties that face accountants and managers. 
• The ABC, as wel l as channels Nine, Ten and Seven, have national TV networks in Australia. The ABC is publicly owned, 

largely financed by the government of Australia, and is not generally supposed to be trying to make a profit, whi le 

A REAL CASE 

A real case boxes contain real-world examples of accounting scenarios that 

help you put the theory into practice . 

A REAL CASE 

Mike, a junior auditor, was assigned to do a surpri se count of the cash on hand at a local clothing shop. The cash 
counted was short compared with what was expected, based on the auditor's projections of cash from sales and bank 
deposit records. Mike was accused by the shop's accounting clerk of stealing the cash himself while counting it, and he 
had to ca ll the police and insist that they search him and so demonstrate that he had not stolen it. 

It turned out that the accounting clerk had been stealing cash and covering up the thefts by changing the sales 
records: a classic case of poor internal control through lack of segregation of duties, because the clerk had access to 

END-OF-CHAPTER FEATURES 

At the end of each chapter you'll find several tools 
to help you to review, practise and extend your 

knowledge of the key learning outcomes. 

• Practice problems give 

you the opportunity to 

test your knowledge 

and consolidate your 

learning. 

• The homework and 

discussion to develop 

understanding section 

provides you with 

discussion questions, 

problems, and cases to 

help you with your 

reVISIOn. 

• Solutions to the practice 

problems and How's 

your understanding 

questions facilitate self

study and additional 

practice. 

PRACTICE PROBLEMS 
Solutions to pr:.etice probtems can be fo~.nd lit the end of tlt.e ch~cr. Th~e probtems 11re intended to 
f«iiitllte self·study ¥tCI 11ddrtion::d P'llctl«': don't took .:11 tn.e soivi!Oil lot ""Y of the.se withovl givlr,g tfoeo 
prob~m" ~.n·om try fir<Jt.. ~" onoe you~ 'een the '501u1ion rl ttlw..7ys Joob en>e1 then;, os. 

PRACTICE PROBLEM A 
ldef'ltJfy <KCOI.Ifltif'IQ trdnscK(lMS 

Tho fc*:lw.ng ltung~; h11prponod to S.:.nlv.t lAd last month. Doooc:» rf o;.ch IS ~ IICGOI.Jntong IT.lMIICtlOn ¥lei 
~;~~n btKtf[y why rt IS« rt ISn't. 
1 A customer ordered $6000 of products, to be ~ I'IC:lll mond-1. 

2 Anolhctr custom« ~d SS28 for-sorno m.:.rl:ot .. g ~co fwom tho compat~y. 
3 8;~rtlr,tt'5 Vltlr~ price went vp by$() SO A$ lf'l(jre ;~re 100 000 $t1¥$$ <>vt$1<11'1(Mg, !hiS w;l$ <1 v;~!voe .. Cte<IW 

of SSO 000 

• 8$rtleu .a" $1'1 advett~Etlt o" TV. ar'ld pr¢o'l'ol&&d to pay the TV ~tl)toO<'It~ 12000 cost ~'~el<t Month 
S One of the CQmpany's errpoyees. worked~-. earmng $120 ~ WQVId be paod nelU poy penod 

6 The CO"l'«')' ~ .:1 tecn.:.ger SS0 to Comp<'fll0)1C b .:1 npped d'lot'l th.:.t ocwrrocl ...-hen the teen:.gcr tncd 
to run IIWII)' ~fte, being «eU$C!d of shoplrft>ng 

1 B:.rtlott I'OOQIYCid .:. shfliTICitlt ot n- goods for- s.:.!o, P'J'Ing $1000 ~~~ .:.nd ~mg to p.:.y tho olhctr 
S12 250 on :.l.,...G!ys. 

t Bi!rtl~tt ~d the Other $ 12 250 
., The ¢0Mp$ny f'l\,\de $ donation tO $ poloi!C-.11 patty of SSOO ('n~ donlltiOI'I tvrned ovt 1$W to h$ve beet'~ 

$91l•n$t the electlon l\lw, tO tl\e ¢0Mpt~ny'$ emb.-.ff.l$So'l\tnt) 
10 G111nd Bbnk ll'lade the ¢0nll)llny e 120 000 short·teorm 1oM 

PRACTICE PROBLEM B 
ledgt'rs .,,.,o Pft'P.trii'!JOn of Gn.:~nr:i.:tl statemenb 
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FOR THE INSTRUCTOR 

Cengage is pleased to provide you with a selection of resources 
that will help you prepare your lectures and assessments. 

These teaching tools are accessible via cengage.com.au/instructors 
for Australia or cengage.co.nz/instructors for New Zealand. 

SOLUTIONS MANUAL 
The solutions manual provides solutions to 
discussion questions, end ·of~chapter problems 
and case questions. 

• I 
POWERPOINT PRESENTATIONS 
Use the chapter-by-chapter PowerPoint 

presentations to enhance your lecture 
presentations and handouts by reinforcmg the 
key pr inciples of your subject. 

~ - ...... 

\. 

_ ...... 

WORD-BASED TEST BANK 
This bank of questions has been developed in 
conjunctiOn w 1th the text for creating quizzes. 
tests and exam s for your students. Deliver 
these through your LMS and in your cl assroom. 

• • 

ARTWORK FROM THE TEXT 
Add the digital files of graphs. pictures and 
flowcharts into your course management 
system, use them within student handouts or 
copy them into lecture presentations. 
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Guide to the online resources 

FOR THE STUDENT 

New copies of this text come with an access code that gives you 
a 12-month subscription to the CourseMate Express website. 

Visit http://login.cengagebrain.com and login using the code card. 

CE NGAGE brain 

REGISTER YOUR PRODUCT 

-
-
-
-

-~ 
~ CourseMateExpr-ess 

The Course Mate Express website includes: 

• rev1s1on qu1zzes 

• glossary and flashcards 

• and much more! 

k'ISWdiOr Login Technical Support 

RETURNING STUDENTS 

~· T'-? I [ • Email adlt'ess 

Don't r.v. an ec:count? 

CENGAGE 

bra1n 
.com 

ALSO AVAILABLE 
Available separately is an introductory 

Management Accounting eBook that helps you 

build a fully integrated understanding of 

financial accounting and management 

accounting. You can buy the Management 

Accounting eBook direct from CengageBrain. 

•• 
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Introduction to 
financial accounting 

CHAPTER OVERVIEW 
Accounting has been described as the 'language of business'. It provides managers w ithin organ isations and 

those outside the organisation (e.g. investors and creditors) with information about the financial performance 

and financial position of the business. Regardless of what type of career you pursue, accounting information 

w ill have important effects on you. 

This chapter introduces you to financial accounting and il lustrates some useful accounting concepts and 

techniques. It outlines a way of thinking about financial accounting that will be important to your career, 

whether you become an accountant or a user of accounting in business or in other walks of life. We believe 

that every manager is a user of accounting information but some managers use accounting information 

better than others. You are introduced to the socia l setting of financia l accounting and some of the people 

involved. Financia l accounting is complex and requires sound judgement because it attempts to serve the 

needs of all these people, not all of whom necessarily see things the same way. You are then introduced to 

one of the cornerstones of how f inancial accounting works: accrual accounting, the broad framework within 

which financial accounting reports are prepared. You are also introduced to the three key financial 

statements and the basic f inancial statement assumptions. 
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Financial accounting. an integrated approach 

1.1 Use and preparation of accounting 
l!!lJ Financial accounting has value because the information it produces is used in a variety of ways. Users include 

managers. investors, bankers, financial analysts and many others. Such people study accounting to learn how 
to use information effectively and to do their jobs better. For accountants, this information is essential to the 

seNices they provide. 

Accounting is a complex human activity. Accounting information doesn't just happen: it is produced by a 

large set of people. activities and computers. To be effective users of the information, people need to know 

something about how and why the information is prepared. Accountants' expertise is all about the how and 

the why. 
The demand for useful infonnation shapes how financial accounting information is prepared; for example, 

when producing annual or monthly performance reports. How it is prepared shapes its use; for example, in 
analysis of financial statements and managerial decisions using accounting information. 

FOR YOUR INTEREST 

Learning terminology is important To help you with that, this book has a glossary of terms at the back on page 697. If 
you're not sure what a term means, look it up right away. 

Accounting is a challenging discipline that involves many capabilities: assigning numbers to represent financial 
phenomena; providing explanations of those numbers; analysing and verifying the information prepared by others; 
understanding the needs of those who use accounting's reports to make decisions; engaging in oral, written and 
electronic communication with the many people involved in an organisation's financial activities; and maintaining 
judgement that is sound, objective and ethical. 

Much of the challenge of accounting is in figuring out which numbers to use and deciding what the numbers tell us. 
Adding and subtracting the numbers is often the easy part. This makes accounting both easier and harder to learn than 
you might have thought. Accounting is rooted in the financial setting, and has its own vocabulary, so don't expect it all 
to make perfect sense at the beginning. It will take a while for you to acquire the knowledge that creates an 
understanding of business and accounting as they really are in our wo~d. This understanding will be based on your 
knowledge of both concepts and techniques, and of the viewpoints of both accountants and the users of accounting. 

The going will not all be easy, but if you give it your best effort, you may be surprised at the high level of 
sophistication you will reach. Here is one important suggestion. The only way to learn accounting is to do problems. It 
is vital that you do more than just read the examples. After reading the chapter, come back and do the examples to 
check your understanding. Throughout the book there are many questions called 'How's your understanding"'. Try to do 
the question and then look up the answer at the end of the chapter. These questions are numbered lA, 18, 1C, etc. 
where 1 indicates the chapter and the letter of the particular question. 

1.2 Financial accounting 
l!!lJ Accounting is a process of identifying. measuring and communicating economic information to allow 

informed decisions by the users of that information. Accounting systems are ohen described as either 

financial accounting systems (where periodic financial statements are provided to external decision.makers, 

such as investors, creditors and customers) or management accounting systems (including information for 

planning and performance reports to managers throughout the organisation; that is, internal decision

makers). 

Financial accounting measures an organisation's perfonnance over time and its position (status) at a point 

in time. and does so in Australian dollars, US dollars, yen, euros or whatever currency is judged relevant to 

the organisation. This measurement of financial performance and financial position is done for all sorts of 
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CHAPTER 1: Introduction to financial accounting 

organ isations: large and small businesses, governments from local to national levels, un ivers1t1es, charities, 

churches, clubs, international associations and many others. The financial statements, which are financial 

accounting's reports, summarise the measurements of financia l performance and financial position in 

standard ways thought to be usefu l in eva luating whether the organisation has done well and is in good 

shape. These financial statements include notes, which contain many words (sometimes dozens of pages) of 

explanation and interpretation, in addition to the numbers. The statements report on the economic and 

financia l matters and are largely for the use of people outside the organ isation, such as investors, lenders, 

club members, regulatory agencies and taxation authorities. 

In summary: 

• Financial performance is the generation of new resources from day-to-day operations over a period of 

time. 

• Financial position is the organisation's set of financial resources and obl igations at a point in time. 

• Financial statements are the reports describing financial performance and financia l position (e.g. the 

balance sheet and the income statement). 

• Notes are part of t he statements, adding explanations to the numbers. 

As we will see throughout this book, f inancial performance and position are highly related. Good 

performance is likely to lead to a healthy financia l position; if a company has been making profits, it wi ll 

probably build up resources. On the other hand, a healthy financial position facilitates performance; if you 

have lots of resources compared to ob ligations, the company can undertake activities that lead to good 

performance. 

Another branch of accounting, management accounting, is oriented towards helping managers and others 

inside the organisation, in contrast to financia l accounting's more external focus. While management 

accounting is not examined in this book, students interested in how financial accounting measures 

managerial performance will find frequent references to the relationship between managers and financial 

accounting. In the end, al l forms of accounting exist to help people such as managers, investors, bankers, 

legislators and the p ublic make financial decisions. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

1A What are the two main things that financial accounting measures? 
[Answers to all 'How's your understanding?' questions are at the end of each chapter. Make sure you try to answer 

the question prior to looking up the answer.] 

1.3 Who uses financial accounting information? 
This book will show you the many ways in which financia l accounting has been shaped by the development III(•J!..IJ 
of business and society. Financial accounting helps: 

• stock market investors decide whether to buy, sell or hold shares of companies 

• banks and other lenders decide whether or not to lend 

• managers run organ isations on behalf of owners, members or citizens (in addition to the help provided by 

management accounting and other sources of information) 

• management by providing basic financial records for the purposes of day-to-day management, control, 

insurance and fraud prevention 

• governments in monitoring t he actions of organisations and in assessing taxes, such as income tax and 

the goods and services tax (GST). 
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Financial accounting: an integrated approach 

Whole books can be, and have been, written about each of these functions. Though this book emphasises 

externa lly oriented financial accounting for business f irms, don't forget that there are many other 

organisations that use, and are affected by, accounting. When words like 'organisation' or 'company' are 

used, the implications often go well beyond business firms. 

The centre of our interest in this book - financial accounting for the organisation - operates with in and 

serves a complex social setting. It seeks to monitor and report on financia l events initiated by or happening 

to the organisation. Accounting is not a passive force with in t he social setting: it te lls us what is going on, 

but in so doing it affects our decisions and actions and, therefore, also affects what is going on. 

The social setting is composed of many people, including groups, companies, institutions and other 

parties interested in, or having an influence on, the company's financial accounting. As we wi ll see many 

times in this book, these parties do not share the same interest in the company's accounting, and may even 

be in competition or conflict w ith each other. For example, management are likely to prefer higher salaries 

but th is may or may not be in t he best interest of shareho lders. Most wi ll be in the same country as the 

company and its management but, increasingly, companies and other organisations are operating 

internationally. The other groups interested in, and affecting, the company's fi nancial accounting may be 

located anywhere on the p lanet. 

Let's consider some possible users of the fi nancial statements of a listed company: 

• A company's board of d irectors manages the company on behalf of its shareholders. One function of the 

board, which involves the f inancial statements, is hiring t he company's top operating management -

especially t he chief executive officer (CEO). Suppose you are a member of the board and are preparing 

for a discussion at the next board meeting. The board eva luates the CEO's performance continuously, 

wh ich is its responsibility. The financia l statements have been provided to the board prior to the 

meeting, and wi ll be a major contribution to th is evaluation. 

• A company's shares are listed (i .e. can be bought and sold) on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX). 

Suppose you are a financial analyst for an investment banker and are p reparing a report projecting future 

earn ings and making recommendations about whether the company's shares are worth buying, keeping if 

already held, or instead should be sold . You have the f inancial statements and wi ll use them to support 

your report. 

• A company has several hundred million dollars in bank borrowings, and lines of credit (pre-authorised 

borrowing capabi lity) for mill ions of dollars more. Suppose you are a commercial lending officer for a 

bank, conducting a regu lar review of the company's borrowing status. You must consider the quality of 

the company's f inancial performance and assets (many of wh ich have been assigned as security on bank 

loans, and t herefore cou ld be seized if the company doesn't pay its loans back on schedule). Financial 

performance is important because net profit generates cash to pay loans, and a good past record 

suggests that the company is likely to be able to earn profit in the future. You have requested the 

fi nancial statements to use in your review. 

• A company depends on a large number of suppliers to obtain goods and services. Suppose you are the 

sales manager of a stationery supplier and are considering signing a long-term contract to supply the 

company. You want to sign the contract because your company needs the business, but you have to be 

satisfied that your sh ipments wi ll be pa id for. More positive ly, you hope that if you do a good job, you 

w ill have an opportunity to grow with t he company. Most of the information you need has been received 

already, b ut you have obtained the financial statements and are reviewing them as you make your final 

decisions about the contract. 

• Management and unions often negotiate about an increase in pay rates for workers. One key input is the 

ability of the company to pay these increases. A company's fi nancial statements are an important input to 

th is decision. 

• 
• 

4 

In summary, these scenarios indicate the following reasons for using the company's financial statements: 

evaluation of the CEO's performance by a member of the board of di rectors 

preparation of 'buy', 'sell' or 'ho ld' recommendations by a fi nancial analyst 
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CHAPTER 1. Introduction to financial accounting 

• review of the company's borrowing status by a bank lending officer 

• development of a supply contract w ith the company by a stationery supplier's sales manager 

• determining pay rises by management and unions. 

These scenarios have been chosen to add to your insight into the use of financial accounting information. 

They are not complete. In all cases, the financial statements would be only part of the information used in the 

dedsion·making process. Also, there are many other uses for financial statements, some of which might make 

different demands on the quality of the information from those discussed here. 

FOR YOUR INTEREST 

Above we noted that financial statements would be only part of the information used by various groups such as investors 
and management in decision-making. Another important type of information is sus1ainability reporting. These reports 
indude information on economic, environmental, social and safety performance. For example, they could include 
information on carbon emissions, energy usage, employee safety, community involvement etc. We introduce this 
material in Chapter 17, as many companies now indude this information in their annual reports or in separate 
sustainability reports. 

1.4 The people involved in financial accounting 
The main participants in the art of financial accounting are: 

• the information users (the decision.makers) 

• the information p reparers, who put together the information to facilitate the users' decision·making 

• the auditors, who assist the users by enhancing the credibility of the information, providing a p rofessional 

opinion about the faimess and appropriateness of the information. 

Users (decision-makers) 
In financial accounting, a user or dedsion·maker is someone who makes decisions on the basis of the 

financial statements, on his or her own behalf. or on behalf of a company, bank or other organisation. 

Ultimately, the nature and contents of financial statements are functions of the demand for decision 

information from users. If user demand is the fundamental reason for financial statements, understanding the 

demand is important. 

A user's main demand is for the credible periodic reporting of an organisation's financial position and 

performance: 

• Credible means that the information in the reports (the financial statements) appears to be sufficiently 

trustworthy and competently pcepared for it to be used to make decisions. There is a cost-benefit issue 

here: huge amounts of money could be spent trying to make the reports absolutely perfect, but since 
that money would have to come out of the organisation's funds, spending it would make its perfonnance 

and position poorer. Users, such as owners and managers, may not want that to happen, so credibility is a 

relative cond ition, not an absolute one. Accounting information has to be worth its cost. 

• Periodic means that users can expect reports on some regular basis (such as yearly or quarterly). The 

longer the wait, the more solid is the information. But waiting a long time for information is not 

desirable: users are w illing to accept some imprecision in the information in return for periodic reports 

w ith timely, decision.relevant infonnation. 

The main g roups of users are as follows: 

• Owners are individual business owners, such as p roprietors, partners and other entrepreneurs; individual 

investors (shareholders) in shares on stock markets who can vote on company affairs; companies that 
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invest 1n other companies; superannuation funds and other institutions that invest in companies; and 

people with quasi-ownership interests, such as members of clubs or voters in local councils. In respect of 

companies, shareholders own portions of the corporation - shares that can be bought and sold - but the 

corporation is a legal entity existing separately from its shareholder owners. Investors purchase shares in a 

company with the hope of gaining in two ways: receiving a portion of the company's profit in the form of 

d ividends, and being able to sell their shares in the future at a price higher than they pa id. 

• Potential owners are people of the same sort as the owners listed above, who do not at present have 

funds invested in the organisation but may be considering making such an investment. Because potential 

owners often buy shares from present owners - for example, by trading shares on the stock market -

rather than investing directly, there is often a significant d ifference in outlook between present owners, 

who may wish to sell their shares for as much as possible, and potential owners, who would like to pay as 

little as possible. 

• Creditors and potential creditors are suppliers, banks, bondholders, and others who have lent money to 

the organ isation, who are owed funds in retu rn for supplying something of value, or who are considering 

taking on such a role. Creditors do not have the legal control of the organisation that owners have, but 

they often have a large say in organisation decisions, especially if the organisation gets into fi nancia l 

d ifficu lty. In cases of extreme difficu lty, creditors may have the right to take over control of the 

organ isation from the owners. Sometimes the difference between creditors and owners is hard to d iscern 

because it may depend on subtle legalities about who has what rights, and some people may play both 

roles for a given organisation. For example, an owner invests money in a business, but in addition may 

lend the business further money, becoming a creditor as well as an owner. Creditors need to decide 

whether to supply goods or services to the firm on credit. 

• Managers are those who run the organisation on behalf of the owners. They have a great interest in the 

way accounting reports on their activities and results. They use the information for p lann ing, control ling 

and organising the activities of the entity. Often managers' sa laries and bonuses, and the likelihood of 

staying in t heir jobs, are directly affected by the contents of the financial statements. In small businesses 

in particular, the owner may also be the main manager. 

• Employees and their unions or other associations are interested in the organisation's abi lity to pay wages, 

maintain employment levels and keep such promises as paying superannuation contributions. Financial 

information can be used to assess job security. 

• Regulators and other government bodies and agencies are groups that may use the f inancial statements 

as a basis to eva luate whether the organisation is following various rules and agreements. 

• Financial and market analysts are people who study companies' performances and prepare reports for 

others by analysing those companies. Analysts often make recommendations about whether to invest, 

sell shares or do neither. 

• Competitors may use the financial statements to try to understand the organ isation's operations for the 

purpose of better understanding what their competitors will do in the future and, therefore, what 

decisions they should make. Sometimes, for example, managers are reluctant to disclose information to 

shareholders, because competitors can then also obtain it and act to reduce the organisation's prospects. 

• 

• 

• 

6 

Accounting researchers are people - mostly university academics, but also some based in accounting 

firms and other organisations - who study accounting w ith the objective of understanding it and 

contributing to its improvement. 

Customers need to consider if the entity is f inancially sound. This is particularly important when customers 

are required to pay amounts in advance, such as on a bui lding contract. It is also important if customers 

re ly on the warranties provided by the entity. 

Miscellaneous third parties are various other people who may get access to an organisation's financia l 

statements and use them in various ways. Once statements have been issued, many people may make 

use of them. For example, politicians may make judgements about industry efficiency or taxation levels, 
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journalists may write stories about employment practices, and j udges may eva luate the organisation's 

abi lity to pay if it loses a lawsuit. 

Think about all these users and decisions! It is a great challenge to develop one set of period ic financial 

statements for an organ isation so that it can be useful for al l. Perhaps you wi ll not be surprised to know that 

there is much controversy about whether financial statements do this we ll, and whether financia l accounting 

methods serve some users or decisions better than others. 

How likely is it that you, the reader, w ill use accounting information in the future? 

If you plan to be an accountant, the value of studying financia l accounting is clear. It may not be so clear, 

however, if you have other plans, such as a career in management, marketing, f inance, eng ineering, law, 

human resources or production. To provide some perspective to those of you not p lann ing an accounting 

career, and to help you understand the managers you will work w ith if you do become an accountant or 

auditor, comments will be made frequently about managers and financia l accounting. 

Financial accounting is directly relevant to managers because it reports on the managers' performance 

as decision-makers, caretakers of the organisation, representatives of the owners, legal officers of the 

organ isation, and so on. Any manager cannot he lp but be interested in how her or his performance is being 

measured and in how that performance is analysed, projected and otherwise evaluated. Managers' bonuses, 

promotions, d ismissals, transfers and other rewards and penalties are often directly based on the numbers 

and commentaries prepared by accountants. Every manager shou ld have an intimate understanding of how 

accounting is measuring his or her performance and should be able to conduct a 'reasonableness check' of 

the information being provided. It is critica l for managers to understand the impact of every decision they 

are making on accounting numbers as these numbers w ill measure their performance. 

Here are a few examples of how non-accounting managers may use accounting information: 

• Marketing managers need to understand the f inancial statements of potential customers to determine 

which customers to focus on and which ones to extend credit to. 

• Purchasing managers need to understand suppliers' financial statements to make sure they have the 

capacity to supply in the long term. 

• Human resources managers use accounting information in sa lary negotiations. 

• Information systems designers need to include the accounting information system in their design. 

If you are extremely talented and have decided to make your fortune as a sports star or musician, you still 

need to know about accounting. We suggest that understanding the financial statements of the Sydney 

Cricket Ground or the Opera House would be of benefit in negotiating with those organisations. 

FOR YOUR INTEREST 

Over the last few years there have been major negotiations between footbal l (various codes) and cricket players and 
administrators over how total revenues of the sports shou ld be shared between players and other stakeholders. That is, 
the players, thei r representatives and the administrators are using the information in the financial statements of the 
sporting bodies as part of the negotiations over salaries and other benefits. 

Preparers (decision facilitators) 
Two main groups are responsible for the information in the f inancial statements: 

• Managers are responsible for running an organisation, including issuing accounting and other information, 

and controlling its f inancial affa irs. The fact that managers are also users, and are vita lly interested in the 

results, has created a fundamenta l conflict of interest for them and has led to the development of the 

auditing function (see below). Managers are often referred to, as a group, as management. 

• Accountants have the job of shaping the financial statements by applying the principles of accounting to 

the organ isation's records, under the direction of management. Many accountants are members of 
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professional societies, such as CPA Australia, Chartered Accountants in Australia and New Zealand, and the 

Hong Kong Society of Accountants. Accountants and their professional bodies also often have audit ing 

experience and interests, and sometimes auditing ro les, but the task of preparing the financial statements 

is quite different in p rinciple from the task of verifying those statements once they are prepared. 

Auditors (credibility enhancers) 
Auditors report on the credibility of the organisation's financial statements, on behalf of owners and others. 

Auditors have the job of assisting the users by verifying that the financial statements have been prepared 
fairly, competently and in a manner consistent with accepted accounting principles. The auditing role is a very 

old one, arising because users demanded some assurance that managers' reports on their perfonnance were 

not self.serving or biased. This book refers frequently to external auditors, who report on the financial 

statements on behalf of extemal users, but there are also internal auditors, who work within the organisation to 

support the credibility of information being used by management. External auditors provide an opinion on the 

truth and fairness of the financial statements. While external aud itors may be asked for advice in pceparing the 

statements, especially for small companies, they must avoid responsibility for the statements because their role 

is to scrutinise the preparation process. They cannot credibly audit statements they have prepared! 
(Professional accountants often do prepare financial statements, but in so doing they are not acting as external 

auditors, and they make this clear in covering letters and footnotes attached to the statements.) 

The external aud itors are formally appointed by the owners; for example, at the annual shareholders' 

meeting. But an organisation's external auditor is not permitted to be an owner or manager of the 

organisation. For example, they cannot own shares in the company and they cannot act as a d ire-ctor or 

manager of the company, even for a small part of the year. This is to ensure that the auditor is financially 

and ethically independent and can therefore be objective about the o rganisation's financial affairs. 

Independence and objectivity are fundamental ideas that you will encounter frequently in this book. 

External auditors may work alone o r in partnership with other auditors in accounting firms. Some of these 

firms are very large, having thousands of partners and tens of thousands of employees, and offices in many 

cities and countries. Accounting finns offer their clients not only extemal auditing but also advice on income 

tax, accounting, computer systems and many other financial and business topics. However, if they conduct 

the aud it there are rules in place about what other services they can provide, as auditors cannot be involved 

in auditing their own work, or creating any conflict·of.interest problems. Managing this requires considerable 

professional skill and attention to the ethics and rules of professional conduct. Whether this is being done 

successfully is a matter of much controversy at present. In Australia, as well as in many overseas countries, 

there has been additional regulation aimed at improving the independence of auditors. The large 

accounting firms annually spend many millions of dollars on their independence and quality·control systems. 

People and ethics 
Ethics, mentioned above, will be raised throughout this book. Ethical issues can arise in just about any area of 

accounting. Here are some examples, all of them real: 

• An organisation has been sued by a recently fired employee who claims that the dismissal was based on 
the employee's age, and therefore broke employment laiN'S. The organisation's general manager denies 

any impropriety. The organisation's chief accountant, who personally feels that the fonner employee's 

claim is justified, has suggested to the boss that the lawsuit should be mentioned in a note to the 

financial statements, so that users of the statements will know there is a potential for loss if the former 

employee wins. The general manager feels that the chief accountant should ignore the lawsuit in 

preparing the financial statements, to avoid embarrassment and the appearance of admitting guilt. The 

general manager fears that such an apparent admission could be used against the organisation in court 

and so could cause the organisation to lose the lawsuit. What should the chief accountant do? 

• While doing an audit, the extemal auditor learns that the organisation may have been cheating one of its 

customers. The customer, who is unaware of this and quite happy with things, is another client of the 

auditor. The auditor, who is bound by rules of conduct designed to protect the confidentiality of 
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information gained during the audit, knows that saying anyth ing to anyone could result in major lawsuits. 

Should t he aud itor just keep quiet about what was found? 

• A third organisation's general manager is paid a bonus each year, calculated as a percentage of profit. 

The general manager is considering a proposed change of accounting methods that wil l reduce 

expenses t his year and therefore raise accrual profit and increase the genera l manager's bonus. Should 

the general manager refuse to implement the accounting change, request that the bonus calculation 

ignore the change, or just go ahead and enjoy the higher bonus? 

These illustrative problems do not have easy answers, so none are offered here. They are di lemmas for the 

chief accountant, t he auditor and the general manager. This book will address eth ical issues from time to time, 

helping you to sharpen your ethical sense along with your accounting knowledge- the two are inseparable. 

Accrual a-ccounting 
Financia l accounting's task of producing financial statements is a complex one. For even a small business, 

thousands of events (transactions) have to be recorded and their financia l effects evaluated. For large 

corporations such as BHP Billiton, Lend Lease, Rio Tinto, Woolworths, AMP, Oantas and Westpac, or 

organ isations such as the University of New South Wales, Brisbane City Council or the Red Cross, the 

number of annual transactions runs into t he mill ions or bil lions. Frequently, when the time comes to prepare 

the financia l statements, some transactions have not been completed, are in dispute or have an otherwise 

unclear status. 

To cope with these complexities, financial accounting for most businesses and organisations uses the 

accrual accounting approach. Under an accrual accounting system, t he impact of transactions on the financial 

statements is recogn ised in the time periods during which revenues and expenses occur, rather than when 

the cash is received or paid. Formal defin itions of revenues and expenses can be quite complicated, and are 

left to Chapter 2. At this stage, we w ill provide examples of the main types of revenues and expenses. 

The main form of revenue is usual ly the sale of goods or services; for example, the sale of coffee machines 

for $45 000 or carrying out the installation of a new computer system for $300 000. Other revenues include 

interest on investments held, dividends received on shares and rent from premises owned by t he company. 

Consider the main revenues and expenses for a coffee cart you see on campus or in the city. The main 

revenue will come from coffee sales. If all sales are cash sales it would be the cash received for the coffees 

sold. But note many customers use t heir credit card (where it may be days/weeks before the cash is received) 

or that some customers may have an account where all coffees sold to them are recorded and then they pay 

the whole amount the following month on receipt of an invoice. Note that under accrual accounting it is the 

delivery of the service (i.e . handing over the cup of coffee) that results in revenue being recognised. 

Expenses include the costs of services and resources consumed in the process of generating revenues. 

Examples of costs incurred are wages, electricity, travel and rent. An example of resources consumed is 

depreciation. Organisations depreciate the cost of an asset (such as a motor vehicle or a printing machine) 

over the useful life of the asset; that is, each year a percentage of the cost of the asset becomes an 

expense. These assets are helping in generating revenue; therefore, a share of the cost shou ld be treated as 

an expense in each accounting period during which t he asset helps generate revenue. 

Why do we depreciate the cost of an asset over its usefu l life rather t han treat the cost of t he asset as an 

expense in the first year? The reason is that the asset is used over many years and helps generate revenue 

over many periods. Th is depreciation expense is matched to the revenues earned during the period. Note 

that estimates need to be made. For example, a printing machine that cost $480 000 would have annual 

depreciation of $120 000, $96 000 or $80 000, depending on whether its estimated life is four, five or six 

years; that is, the judgement on the useful life of t he machine has an impact on profit each year. 

Now consider the main expense of the coffee cart mentioned above. Likely expenses include: 

• the cost of coffee 

• the cost of cups 
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• 
• 
• 
• 

wages 

rent of space (e.g. to the university) 

depreciation on the coffee machine 

msurance. 

Accrual accounting versus cash accounting 
Before considering these complexities, let's consider the basic d ifferences between cash accounting and 

accrual accounting. 

• Cash accounting involves recording revenues and expenses at the time the cash is rece ived or paid. This 

is reasonably precise, because the accountant knows whether cash has been paid or received and the 

exact amount is easily determined (from accounting books or bank statements). 

• However, often the timing of cash flow is in a different accounting period from the substance of the 

transaction. Examples include selling inventory on cred it; when a contractor fixes machinery for your 

company but wi ll not be paid until a later accounting period; or the use of machinery, w hich reduces 

its future usefu l life. As noted above (but worth repeating), accrual accounting incorporates these 

complexities by recording revenues and expenses at the time they occur, not when cash is received. 

Benefits of accrual accounting 
The differences between cash and accrual accounting are critical to your understanding so the above points 

are worth reinforcing. The primary measure of a company's performance is its profit for the period. Profit is 

measured as revenues minus expenses. The key revenue for most companies comes from the sa le of goods 

or services. The amount of revenue recorded are the amounts expected to be received from provid ing the 

good or service regardless of when the customer pays for the goods or services. Expenses represent the 

amounts paid or owing by the organ isation in order to earn the revenues. Some expenses may be paid at 

the time the expense is incurred but often the amounts will be paid after, or even before, the expense is 

incurred. For example, you may have done some casual work during the month wh ich is not paid to you by 

the company until the end of the month. On the other hand, the company wil l likely pay rent in advance. 

The benefits of accrual accounting to the user of financial statements are: 

• it includes all assets and liabilities in the balance sheet to give a truer p icture of the financia l position of 

the organisation (e.g. accounts receivable and accounts payable) 

• it includes al l revenues and expenses regardless of whether the cash has yet been received. For example, 

if a company makes a large sale to an established customer who has always paid its bi lls, the company 

would see th is as a positive factor. Accrual accounting includes such a transaction in revenues and this 

more accurately measures profits. Similarly, if the company has received the benefits of services from 

other organisations then this should be included in expenses and, therefore, impact the performance 

measure. 

• assets are used over a number of years and will benefit the performance of each year. Therefore, in 

measuring overal l performance a share of the costs should be al located across the life of the asset. This 

allocation, called depreciation, is included in an accrual accounting system. 

• asset and liability values can change over time and these changes need to be included in the 

performance evaluation where possible. 

To compare cash profit with accrual profit, consider the following: 

• A company makes credit sales of $100 000 in June, and the cash wi ll be collected in July. Under an 

accrual system, $100 000 revenue would be included in June, whereas under a cash system the amount 

would be recognised in July. 

• A contractor carries out repair work for your company in June for $20 000, but the bil l will not be pa id 

until July. Under an accrual system, the expense would be recognised in June, but under a cash system it 

would not be recognised until Ju ly. 
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• Under accrual accounting there will be an allocation of the cost of equipment to expenses over several 

accounting periods to re-cognise the consumption of the equipment's future economic value. This is 

called depreciation. If some new equipment cost $80 000 and has a life of eight years, $10 000 
depreciation would be included in expenses each year. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

1 B In June, a company makes cash sales of $100 000 and credit sales of $200 000 (all to be collected in July). h pays 
wages of $60 000 and owes $10 000 for June expenses (to be paid in July). 
(i) What is profit using cash accounting? 
(ii) What is profit using accrual accounting' 

Using accrual accounting to prepare financial statements 
Using the accrual accounting approach in preparing the financial statements. attempts are made to: 

• include all the cash receipts and payments that have already happened; for example, cash sales and cash 

payment for wages 

• incorporate future cash receipts that should be expected, based on existing transactions; for example. it is 

necessary to include credit sales now, although the cash will not arrive until the next period 

• incorporate future cash payments that need to be paid for goods or services already provided to the 

organisation 

• measure the value of incomplete transactions; for example, estimate the likely amount of accounts 

receivable that will not be collected or the amount of inventoty that is obsolete. and treat these amounts 

as expenses of this year 

• estimate figures when exact amounts are unknown; for example, estimate the amount of interest due from 

the bank at year·end, even though the bank does not add the interest to your account for another two 

months - the amount is interest revenue 

• make an economically meaningful overall assessment of awkward p roblems; for example, a customer is 

suing you for $1 million because of a faulty product. You agree to pay $200 000 in settlement now, but 
the client takes the matter to court, with the case to be held next year. You need to determine if there is 

an expense in this year. Complications such as this can be leh to later chapters, but it is important to 

realise early that there are complications in detennining p rofit 

• estimate the using up (consumption) of an asset over time (called depreciation), i.e. allocating the cost of 

the asset to each year over the life of the asset. 

Estimates and assessments 
Notice the use of the words 'estimate' and 'assessment' above. This illustrates the need for judgements when 

preparing financial statements under accrual accounting. Examples of estimates are as follows. 

• The value of a bank's overseas loans [I.e. the money actually to be re-ceived back from those loans) 

depends on the health of the borrowing countries' economies, stability in international money·transfer 

arrangements (ohen disrupted by wars, politics and natural disasters) and the relative values of various 

countries' currencies, which can change a lot from day to day. In order to judge the value of the bank's 

uncollected loans, accountants study the loan repayment record of various countries for the bank and 

estimate how much money the bank will be able to collect. 

• The amount of profit that should be re-cognised during the year by a construction company for a majo r 

bridge that will take two years to complete will depend on future expenses. Accountants calculate the 

costs involved in building the bridge to this point. Based on such estimates as the percentage of the job 
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completed, he or she also estimates the total likely profit of building the bridge and detennines the 

percentage of profit to be included in this period. 

• All companies have to estimate the amount o f money owing to employees at the end of each year for 
wages where the work is done and not yet paid, and calculate the amount owing to employees to be 

paid in the future for holiday pay, long service leave and superannuation (depends a lot on the type of 

superannuation p lan). 

The importance of good judgement 
Accrual accounting has been developed because financial statements cannot be based on merely the routine 

accounting records of what has happened. Measuring economic performance is more complex than that, and 

the appropriate measures can be elusive or can depend on one's point of view. Many augmentations to the 

transactional record (estimates, adjustments, judgements and verbal explanations) must be made so that the 

statements will be meaningful. The resulting statements, therefore, depend to a great extent on the quality 

and fairness of such augmentations. Managers, accountants and aud itors must use their judgement constantly. 

Financial accounting, because it relies on many judgements, is far more imprecise than most people (even 

many regular users of financial statements) realise. To help students understand the reality of modem financial 

accounting, this book spends much space on the real.fife imprecisions of preparing and using financial 

statements. Accrual accounting is therefore the p resumed method in this book, though there will be some 

comparisons between it and simple cash~based accounting. Modem financial accounting starts with cash 

receipts and payments, then builds a very large accrual accounting process in addition to the cash records in 
order to provide the sophisticated measures of financial performance and position that today's world demands. 

FOR YOUR INTEREST 

Many of you will end up working as accountants or managers for organisations that operate in many countries. This book 
should equip you to understand the financial statements prepared in most countries, including Australia, the United 
States, the United Kingdom, Canada, New Zealand, China, Singapore, Hong Kong, Indonesia, Malaysia and many others. 
The methods of preparing financial statements in these countries are very similar. All use the accrual accounting system 
introduced in this chapter. With the introduction of International financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in 2005, 
differences between financial reporting in these countries are likely to be very small. 

1.6 The key financial statements 
~ Organisations are required to provide the following types of information that are relevant to user needs: 

financial position, financial performance, financing activities and investing activities. 

The key financial statements that provide this information are: a balance sheet. which shows the financial 

position at a point in time; an income statement. which measures financial performance over a defined 

period (such as a month or a year) by deducting expenses from revenues during the period to obtain profit 
for the period; and a statement of cash flows, which shows the sources and uses of cash during the period. 

Both financing and investing activities are included in this statement. 

Balance sheet 
Exhib it 1.1 provides an example of a simple balance sheet. The balance sheet shows an organisation's 

resources and claims on resources at a particular point in time. The heading provides the company name, 

the title of the report and the date at which the financial position is shown. The three main elements of a 

balance sheet are assets, liabilities and shareholders' equity. In this case, the organisation is a company, and 

shareholders' equity is described as shareholders' equity. If the organisation were a sole trader or 

partnership, it would be called proprietor"s equity or partners' equity, respect ively. 
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'i31il:hlli Y.:fZ LTD 

BAlANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2019 

2019 2018 

sooo sooo 

Assets 

Cash at banl: 2 000 1 400 

Ac<ounts recervable 16 000 13 000 

lrwentory 12 000 10 000 

Property, plant atld equipment ~ ~ 
Total users ~ ~ 
Llabllldos and shartholdors' equity 

Llabllltios 

Ac<ounts payable 17 000 16 800 

WagM P'Yable 2 000 2 000 

Provision toe etnployee entitlements 4 000 3 000 

Long.term &oatls ~ ~ 
Total llabllltios ~ ..lliQ2 
Shareholders' equity 

Sl\are <apital 40 000 36 000 

Retained prOfits ~ ~ 
Total shuoholdtrs' oqulty ~ ~ 
Total llabiUdts aMI shareholders' equity ~ ~ 

ASSETS 

Assets are the future economic benefits that are controlled by an organisation as a result of past transactions 

or other past events. The value of every asset needs to be measurable in monetary terms. A b rief d iscussion 

of the assets in Exhibit 1.1 will make you familiar w ith the terminology. 

• The cash at bank account records deposits to and w ithdrawals from a bank. 

• Accounts receivable {also called debtors) represents amounts owing from customers for goods o r services 

provided to them. Accounts receivable is shown net. which indicates the amount that management 
expects to collect from customers after allowances have been made for likely uncollectable amounts. 

• Inventory generally represents the cost of stock on hand; that is, unsold products. 

• Property, plant and equipment includes items such as land. buildings. equipment, motor vehicles, 

computers and fumiture. 

Assets can be financed in one of two ways: liabilities and/or shareholders' equity: 

Assets • llabiUdes + Skareholders' equity 

LIABILITIES 

Liabilities are the future sacrifices of e-conomic benefits that an organisation is presently obliged to make to 

other organisations or individuals as a result of past transactions or events. For example, suppliers provid ing 

goods on credit and employees carrying out worl< are examples of past transactions that lead to liabilities. 
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Liabilities can be legally owed debts, such as loans from the bank, mortgages or amounts due to suppliers. 

However, they also can be estimates of future payments based on past agreements, such as those arising 

from promises of future benefits to employees for long service leave, or of warranty repairs for customers 

when products break down. Liabilities involve the future use of assets, usually cash, or the performance of 

future services. An example of the former is paying cash to reduce a liability. An example of provid ing a 

future service would be carrying out warranty repairs on products previously sold. 

Four examples of liabi lities in Exhibit 1.1 are accounts payable, wages payable, provision for employee 

entitlements and long-term loans. 

• Accounts payable (often called trade creditors) is the amount owed to various suppliers for goods or 

services they have provided to an organisation. 

• Wages payable (also called accrued wages) is for work done by employees, but for which they have not 

been paid. 

• Provision for employee entitlements refers to entitlements employees accumulate as a result of past work, 

such as holiday leave, sick leave, long service leave and superannuation. 

• Long-term loans are loans that are not repayable w ithin a year. 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Shareholders' equity is the excess of assets over liabi lities. It is a residual cla im of the shareholders on the 

assets of the organ isation. Shareholders' equity consists of two main elements: share capital and retained 

profits. 

• Share capital is the amount that owners have directly invested in the company. 

• Retained profits represent the total cumulative amounts of profits that the company has retained in the 

business rather than distributed as dividends. 

The relationship between assets, liabil ities and shareholders' equity can be expressed in the following 

accounting equation: 

Assets = Liabilities +Shareholders' equity 

This equation shows that the resources of an organisation are funded from two types of sources: debt or 

equity. The effects of transactions on th is equation are d iscussed in Chapter 2. At this point you should note 

that the equation balances at every point in time. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

1 C For each of the fol lowing items state whether they are assets (A}, liabilities (L}, shareholders' equity (SE) or not 
listed in the balance sheet: 
(i) accounts receivable 
(ii) accounts payable 
(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) 

14 

sales revenue 
share capital 
equipment 
loans. 
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CHAPTER 1: Intro duct ion t o f inancial accounting 

Comparative balance sheets 
Note that the balance sheet in Exhibit 1.1 shows numbers for 2018 and 2019. The changes from 2018 to 

2019 p rovide the reader w ith information about what is happening to various account balances; for examp le, 

cash at bank has increased from $1400 to $2000. The statement d oes not te ll us the reasons for the change, 

b ut it is possib le to obta in informat ion on the change in th is account in the statement of cash f lows p rovided 

in Exhibit 1.3 (to be d iscussed later). While some of the reasons for the changes in other balances are too 

complicated for this introductory chapter, you w ill be ab le to understand the changes after you have 

completed the next two chapters (we w ill return to Exhibit 1.1 in Chapter 2). For now, consider some 

prelim inary ideas: 

• What would be a likely exp lanation for the increase in accounts receivable? Most like ly cred it sa les (this 

would increase account s receivab le) are g reater than cash rece ived from customers related to cred it sa les 

(this would decrease accounts rece ivab le). 

• What does the increase in share capita l mean? This normally indicates that there have been shares issued 

during the year. 

• The long-term loans have decreased from $33 600 to $30 000, indicat ing the company has borrowed less 

than it has repa id on the loans. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

1 D Consider the following questions: 
(i) If the balances of total assets and shareholders' equity are $100 000 and $40 000, respectively, what is the 

balance of total liabilities? 
(ii) If the balances of total liabilities and shareholders' equity are $200 000 and $300 000, respectively, what is 

the balance of total assets? 
(iii) Given the balances of assets $300 000, liabilities $200 000 and share capital $60 000, what is the balance of 

retained profits? 

I nco me statement 
In p revious years, the income statement was ca lled the profit and loss statement. Some companies may 

continue to use that terminology w ithin thei r internal reports, so you should at least be aware of it . 

The income statement provides informat ion on an organisation's p rofitabi lity for a period of time. It 

matches revenues during a period against expenses incurred in earn ing the revenues. The difference is the 

profit (revenue g reater than expenses) o r loss (expenses g reater than revenue) . Recall t hat under an accrual 

accounting system, the cash related to the revenue o r expense does not have to be received or paid in 

o rder for the revenue or expense to be included in the income statement. Discussion of when revenue and 

expenses are recognised is included in Chapter 2 . 

Exh ib it 1.2 provid es an example of a simplified income statement. Sales is the only revenue item listed. 

The next item in the income statement is cost of goods sold (COGS). Fo r a retai ler, th is would be the 

purchase price of the goods that are sold . For example, if a reta iler sells 100 items at $20 each and the cost 

price of each of the items is $8, sa les revenue would be $2000 ($20 x 1 00) and cost of goods sold would be 

$800 ($8 x 1 00). The d ifference between sales revenue and cost of goods sold is called g ross profit (a lso 

gross margin). 

The income statement also lists various operating expenses, as shown in Exhibit 1.2. These cost s re late to 

the day-to-day running of the b usiness. 
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EXHIBIT 1.2 XYZ LTD 

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

$000 $000 

Sales revenue 21 000 

Less Cost of goods sold 8 000 

Gross profit 13 000 

Less Operating expenses 

Salaries 2 500 

Depreciation 500 

Electricity 300 

Travel 300 

Other 400 4 000 

Operating profit before tax 9 000 

Less Income tax expense 3 000 

Operating profit after tax 6 000 

Many other operating expenses, such as advertising, staff training, maintenance, telephone and motor 

vehicle expenses, could also be included. Deducting these operating expenses from gross profit gives 

operating profit before tax. Tax is then deducted to g ive operating profit after tax. 

The profit figure of $6 m illion can be paid out in dividends to shareholders or retained in t he business. 

This is the connecting link between the balance sheet and the income statement. The opening balance of 

retained profits plus the profit for the year m inus dividends equals the closing balance of reta ined profits as 

shown in the balance sheet. 

Companies provide a separate statement or note to the accounts showing t he change in retained profit 

for the year. For example, if XYZ's opening retained profits were $24 million, net profit for the year was 

$6 m illion and d ividends of $3 mi llion were declared and paid, we would see the fol lowing statement in 

the notes to the accounts for reta ined profits. 

$ million 

Open ing balance 24 

+ Net profit 6 

30 

- Dividends declared and paid 3 

Closing balance 27 

Statement of cash flows 
Because revenues reported usually do not equal cash col lected and expenses do not equal cash pa id, net 

profit is different from the change in cash for the period. The statement of cash flows shows the changes 

during the period in one balance sheet account, namely cash. It shows the receipt of cash and t he payment 

of cash. Accounting standards require companies to present t his statement in t heir published financia l 

statements. Individual transactions are normally split into the following t hree categories: 

1 operating activities: related to t he provision of goods and services 

2 investing activities: related to the acquisition and disposal of certain noncurrent assets, including property, 

plant and equipment 

3 financing activities: related to changing t he size and composition of the financial structure of the entity, 

including equity and certain borrowings. 
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CHAPTER 1. Introduction to financial accounting 

Exhibit 1.3 provides an example of a statement of cash flows. Under cash flows from operating activities, 

it shows that the company re-ceived $17 million from customers, and paid $7.7 million and $2.5 million to 

suppliers and employees respe-ctively, as well as paying $4.3 million in other operating costs. 

iijiii:Jilii Y.:fZ LTD 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

sooo 

C1sh flows from operating attlwfdes 

Recetpts from custome.s 17000 

P-'yll'\oents to supplie.s (7 700) 

P-'yll'\oents to employees (2 500) 

cash operating costs (4 300) 

lJ!!Q. 
C1sh flows from Investing actlvltlts 

Purchase of machinery !U!Ql 
C1sh flows from financing 1e1ivltlts 

Issue of s:lwlres 4 000 

Banl: loan (3 600) 

~ 
Total net cash flows 600 

C.<h: 1 July 2018 {Oflening balilll<e) ~ 
C.<h: 30 June 2019 (dosing balance) l.Q!!Q. 

Note that these figures are not the same as those in the income statement. FOt example, the company 

could have made $21 million in credit sales, but only collected $17 million from customers by the end of 

the year. There was only one investing item, being the cash paid for a new machine. Cash flows from 
financing activities show that the company re-ceived $4 million from an issue of shares, but paid back a 

$3.6 million bank loan. The net effect on cash of all of the above transactions was an increase of $600 000. 

When added to the opening balance of $1.4 million, it shows a closing balance of $2 million, which is also 

the figure shown under cash in the balance sheet. Statements of cash flows will be discussed in detail in 

Chapter 14. 

Relationships between the financial statements 
Exhibit 1.4 shows the main relationships between the various financial statements. We have abbreviated the 

balance sheet, the income statement and the cash flow statement in Exhibits 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 to make the 

relationship clearer. The cash flow statement explains the change in cash in the balance sheet from $1400 to 

$2000. This change will be from cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities, and a closer 

examination of Exhibit 1.3 will show which cash flows have the major impact. Net profit of $6000 for the year 

appears in the income statement, and this amount increases retained profits. How this works can be seen in 

the note on retained profits, 'Nf'lich has increased from $24 000 to $27 000, due to the net profit for the year 

less the dividends declared and paid; that is, the amount of net profit not used for dividends increases the 

balance of retained profits. 
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XYZ LTD 

RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN THE STATEMENTS (BASED ON EXHIBITS 1.1 TO 1.3) 

Bala!K* sheet 

Cash 

Other assets 

Total assets 

liabtlrtres 

Sl\are capital 

Retained profits 

Total liabilities and shareholderS' equrty 

Rttllntd profits note 

2018 balao<• 

-t Net p1orrt 

- Dwiderds 

2019 balao<• 

.!!!.22Q ~ 
~ ~ 

51 400 53 000 

40 000 40 000 

Cash How statemtnt 

from opetaring activities 

from uwestu-,g activities 

from financing actwities 

Total net castl Rows 

Opening balance 

2 500 

(2 300) 

~ 
600 

C"~ 
C&osing balatlct 

120 000 

Income statement 

24 000 Revet~ues 21 000 

~ 
30 000 

~ 
27 000 

Expenses• 

Net profit 

.!iQ!!Q 

6 000 

•from &hlbrt 12, total apenses • COGS + Operwng apenses + Income tat expense 
• 8000 + 2SOO + 500 + 300 + 300 + 400 + 3000 • 15 000 

HOW' S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

1 E If the opening balance in retained profits is $100 000, net profit after tax is $60 000 and dividends declared and 
paid is $40 000, what is the balance of retained profits at year-end? 

1.7 Demands on the quality of financial 
accounting information 

~ Let's think about what the users of financial infonnation (such as the board of directors, the analyst. the 
banker and the supplier d iscussed in section 1.3) might reasonably expect of the financial statements. The 

important accounting concepts and principles invofved are described in italics. 

1 The financial statements need to contain information that is useful to those who are making the decisions. 

18 

The information must have value in helping the financial analyst or the bank lending officer make their 

recommendation. In addition, the information to be provided needs to be supplied in a timely manner. 

For example. some of the decisions by the board of directors. the analyst. and the banker and the 

supplier noted earlier need to be made at a certain point in time. While the outcome of a particular 
contract may be relevant information, the de-cisions ohen cannot wait until that contract has been 

finalised. 

This is the concept of relevance. If information is to assist users in making decisions about the 

allocation of scarce resources. it should help them make, confirm or correct predictions about the 

outcomes of past, present or furure events. 
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CHAPTER 1. Introduction to financial accounting 

2 The financial statements should not be deliberately misleading. They should be free from bias. They 

should not be designed to lead users towards conclusions that are desired by the preparers. If 
accounting information is to tell people about the economic forces affecting the company, and the 
business arrangements the company has made to deal with those forces, it should connect to such 
important underlying phenomena. The bank loans officer would want to feel confident that the 
statements were not prepared in such a way as to make the company appear to be a better lending risk 
than it is. Similarly, the board of directors would want the statements to provide an objective portrayal of 
the CEO's perfonnance in running the company. 

This is the criterion of 'faithful representation', previously referred to as reliability. The financial 

statements should report the economic substance of events happening to the company. and the 

numbers should measure the events neutrally. neither overstating nor understating their impact. 

Information should. without bias or undue error. faithfully represent those rransactions and events that 

have occurred. To have perfect fa•'thful representation the financial infonnation needs to be complete. 

neutral and free from error. INhile such perfection is seldom completely achievable. the board of 

directors' objective is to maximise these qualities. 

3 Preparing financial statements, like any other activity, costs money and takes time. Most people would be 
satisfied if the statements were fair in relation to the important things and would not mind a few minor 
errors in them, especially if preventing small errors would cost the company money (reducing the 
company's profit and cash flow) or delay the release of the statements. 

This is the criten·on of 'materiality' (significance). The materiality concept is concerned with assessing 
whether omission, misstatement or non·disdosure of a piece of infonnation would affect the decisions of 

users of the accounting reports. Just what is or is not material is a matter of judgement, and has been 

the subject of considerable research and srudy by accountants and auditors. Usually, people judge 

materiality by considering the size of a possible error compared to the net profit or the total assets. For 

example. an accountant or auditor might judge that an error over 5 per cent of net profit or 1 per cent of 

total assets is material and a smaller one is not. But. as you might expect. the material•'ty judgement 

depends on any particular uses of the information that are expected. and on whether the error moves the 

profit to a loss or violates some condition in a loan agreement. 

4 There needs to be some standard against which an accounting method or number can be judged. The 
financial analyst would like to know that the company's financial statements were presented fairly, in all 
material respects, given accepted current methods. The company is actually a group of companies, so its 
financial statements are consolidated (combined), and it would be reasonable to expect that the 

company's method of calculating consolidated figures was proper. 

This is where 'generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)' come in. To assure the users that 

accepted methods have been followed, the auditols report also says that the auditor's opinion is that the 

statements have been prepared in accordance w•'th generally accepted accounting principles. This does 

not mean that one particular method has been followed: GAAP often include several acceptable 

methods, depending on the circumstances. Therefore, the auditor is saying that the company's 

accounting methods, and the resulting figures, are appropriate to its circumstances. 

5 The pevious criteria indicate that the financial statements ne-cessarily reflect judgement on the part of the 
preparers. Also. the figures in the statements are summaries of many accounts; for example, 'accounts 
re-ceivable' and 'long·tenn debt' may include dozens or thousands of d ifferent customers or debts. The 
bank loan officer may want to know what sort of long·term debts the company has, so that they may be 
evaluated against the bank borrowing by the company. The bank would not want other creditors to 
interfere with the company's ability to pay back the bank. The financial analyst may want to know if the 
company has made commitments to issue more shares (such as in a p lan to motivate senior management 
by issuing shares to them dheaply if they perform well), because those might reduce the equity of anyone 

buying the shares now. 
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This raises the principle of disclosure. The financial statements include a large number of notes and 

account descriptions intended to make it clear to the reader which important accounting methods have 

been followed (especially if those methods are not what might be expected) and to provide 

supplementary information on debts, share capital, commitments, law suits and other things thought to 

be helpful, or necessary, in understanding the statements. Disclosure beyond the accounting figures is 

becoming increasingly extensive: many pages of notes often accompany the set of statements, and 

companies disclose additional information to taxation authorities, to securities regulators (such as the 

Australian Securities and Investments Commission and the US Securities and Exchange Commission) and 

to important other parties who have a reason to get the information (such as the bank loan officer and 

the financial analyst). More recently, there are increased disclosures related to environmental and human 

capital issues. These disclosures are important as stakeholders are interested in a company's performance 

in this area and because they can affect future financial performance. 

6 The board, the banker, the analyst and t he supplier would like information they can understand. 

Undoubtedly, their ability to understand w ill depend on their knowledge of accounting, as fi nancia l 

reports are prepared for users who have a reasonable knowledge of business including accounting . 

Hopefully, th is wil l be you in a few years. 

This principle is called understandability. Reports should be prepared having regard to the interests of 

users who are willing to exercise diligence in examining the reports, and who possess the skills and ability 

to comprehend contemporary accounting practices. 

7 The banker and the financial analyst are also involved with other companies. They would like to be able to 

compare the company's f inancial statements with t hose of similar companies. It may be d ifficult to be sure 

t hat a company is performing well or badly in an absolute sense, but it can always be compared to others, 

as long as the financial statements have been prepared in a comparable way. 

You will not be surprised that this principle is called comparability. It will be important when we review 

techniques for financial statement analysis in Chapter 15. 

8 The banker, the analyst and the board of directors w ill also want to study t he trend in financia l 

performance and position over time. Is the net profit improving over time, or deteriorating? How about 

t he ratio of debt-to-equity financing? It is important to know if sign if icant events have happened to make 

comparisons over time difficult or even impossible. It is also important to know if the company has 

changed its accounting methods over time, because such changes may affect the comparabi lity of the 

accounting figures from year to year. 

Keeping the same accounting methods over time is called consistency. If the company is following 

GAAP, consistent methods will be used, or the reader of the statements will be told if a change has been 

made, and what the effects of changes in accounting methods are (if they are material). Note that 

consistency does not mean that a company has to use the same accounting method in all parts of the 

company. For example, different depreciation methods can be used for different assets. 

We can formalise some of t he above ideas by relating them to the conceptual framework put out by 

the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) in its document Framework for the Preparation and 

Presentation of Financial Statements (hereafter ca lled the Framework). The Framework, which was revised in 

December 2013, notes that t hese q ualitative characteristics are the attributes that make the information in 

the financia l reports usefu l to users. It lists two fundamental qualitative characteristics: relevance and faithful 

representation. In addition, it notes that comparability, verifiability, timelines and understandabi lity are 

characteristics that enhance the two fundamental characteristics. 

In summary, the qual itative characteristics set out in the Framework are: 

1 Fundamental qualitative characteristics: 

• relevance 

• faithful representation . 
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2 Enhancing qualitative characteristics: 

• comparability 

• verifiability 

• timeliness 

• understandability. 

The terms 'relevance' and 'faithful representation' were d iscussed earlier. If you are not sure of their 

meaning , you should go back and re·tead those descriptions. Below we elaborate on the fout enhancing 
qualitative characteristics (based on the Framework). 

• Comparability: information about one ocganisation is more useful when it can be compaced with similat 

information from another organisation and also is comparable over time within the same organisation. In 

terms of comparability, GAAP contains many detailed rules with several industry exceptions and 

alternative accounting policies for the same transactions. All these exceptions and alternative treatments 

certainly lead to some difficulties in making comparisons across companies. Analysts often come up with 

their own standard way of p resenting accounting data by taking published financial data and converting 

it to their own requirements. 

• Verifiability: the numbers in the financial statements can be verified d irectly by looking at documentation 

(e.g. the cost price of equipment) or through djrect observation (e.g . counting cash or inventory). They 

can also be verified indirectly by checking inputs to a model formula and recalculating the outputs. 

• Timeliness: refers to having information available when users need to make their decisions. However. 

having information earlier rather than latec can mean that it is less complete. For example, certain 

estimates become more accurate over time (e.g. the estimate of uncollectab le accounts ce-ceivable. 

d iscussed in Chapter 8, or the obsolescence of inventory, d iscussed in Chapter 9 or estimates of 

depreciation of assets, discussed in more detail in Chaptec 1 0). Liab ilit ies related to certain past acts may 

also become more accurately measured as time passes (e.g. aher court deliberations). Howevec, the 

characteristic of timeliness incorpocates the idea that it is important to have the infonnation when the 

de-cision is being made. 

• Understandabili ry. infonnation is more useful if it is understandab le to informed decision.makers. 

Understandability can be increased by p cesenting infonnation in a clear and concise manner. The 

Framework states that users are expected to have a reasonable knowledge of business, e-conomic 

activities and accounting, and a willingness to study the information with reasonable d iligence. However. 

there is a caveat: information about complex matters. if relevant to users. should not be excluded on the 

grounds that it is too d ifficult for users to understand. 

FOR YOUR INTEREST 

The accounting profession has been criticised for the increased complexity of financial reports, where the notes to the 
accounts can exceed SO pages. One reason is the increased complexity of transactions and the increased need for 
estimates. For example, when senior executives are only paid a salary, reporting of executive remuneration is much 
easier than when they get additional share options and various incentives based on accounting numbers. Also, given the 
legal consequences and penalties for omission of required data, it is likely for management to over-report rather than 
under-report when there is uncertainty. There are taskforces and committees considering these issues at present 

What does all this mean for you as an introductory accounting student? These accounting standards are 

continually being considered around the world. Some important changes in accounting have already 
occurred and others ace still emerging. Accounting is not static; the better you understand the basic 

fundamentals of accounting , the better you w ill be able to cope with these changes. 
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Trade-offs among accounting principles 
If you think about the criteria and principles mentioned above (I.e. relevance, faithful representation, 

materiality, conformance with GAAP, d isclosure, understandability, comparability and consistency). you may 

see that they do not always fit together well. For example, it would seem sensible to ptopose that the more 
faithfully representative the accounting information is, the bener. You can achieve this by being very careful 

about how you prepare it, ched:ing it carefully and having the auditors come in and verify it, and maybe 

even wait ing until some majot uncertainties are resolved, so you do not have to estimate them. It also seems 

sensible that decision~makers need infonnation that is relevant to their decisions when they are making them. 

This means that information should be timely: people should not have to wait for the infonnation they need. 

In this light, let's consider a company trying to report on its liability to employees fot long service leave. I t 

has thousands of employees who will take this time off over the next 40 years, if they do not leave the 

employer earlier. The dollar amount of long service leave paid w ill depend on how much the employees 

eam when they take the leave, and that is not yet known for most of them. The amount of leave depends 

on how long the employees have been with the firm. Under most employment awards, it starts to 

accumulate after 10 o r 15 years of service. For each extra year of service it increases at d ifferent rates. tf the 

employee leaves before 10 years of seiVice, no amount normally needs to be paid unless the employee's 

leaving was involuntary. 

How is that fot a mass of uncertainty? Any number you come up with for the long service leave liability 

w ill be based on all sorts of estimates of unknown future events. Therefore, to get a liability figure that 

faithfully represents the liability, you really have to wait 20 o r 30 years until most of the employees have 

retired or taken their leave. You can always expe-ct to get more reliable data by just wait ing a while, even 

years, to see how things tum out. But waiting 20 or 30 years will hard ly provide timely information that is 

relevant to decisions such as those being made by the board of directors, the investment analyst, the banker 

and the supplier mentioned above. Such decisions require the best information we can come up w ith now, 

even if it is ne-cessarily based on estimates and assumptions. As time passes, faithful representation rises and 

relevance falls, so we have to try to find some midpoint where there is enough of both, even though we may 

prefer even more of one o r both of these attributes. 

1.8 Financial statement assumptions 
~ Now that you have seen the financial statements and the basic principles upon which accounting relies, it is 

important to understand some basic assumptions underlying current accounting practice and the p reparation 

of financial statements. The following concepts (or assumptions) are d iscussed below: accrual basis, going 

concern, accounting entity, accounting period, monetary and historical cost. 

• Accrual basis: financial reports are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting; that is, the effects of 
transactions and other events are re-cognised as they occur, regardless of whether cash is received ot 

paid at that time. The use of accrual accounting provides a bener basis for assessing an entity's past and 

future performance than information only related to cash receipts and cash payments during a period. 

• Going concern: financial statements are prepared on the p remise that the organisation will continue 
operations as a going concern in the foreseeable future. If this is not the case, it is necessary to report 

the liquidation values of an organisation's assets, i.e. what the assets could be sold for. Consider the 

following example. Assume last year your university completely remodelled your classrooms with new 

carpet, tiered seating and new inbuilt p roje-ction equipment. Under historical cost. the cost of all those 

renovations would be recorded as an asset and then depreciated over the life of the asset. If the costs 

were $10 million and depreciation in year 1 was $1 million, the book value (cost - accumulated 

depreciation) would be $9 million. This is the amount that would appear on the balance sheet. However, 

if the government closed your university - that is, it is no longer a going concern - the assets would 

need to be recorded at liq uidation value. Basically, they would be recorded at what they could be sold 
for. Note that there is not much of a second·hand market for tiered seating to fit a certain size of room, 
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CHAPTER 1. Introduction to financial accounting 

or carpet that has been cut to fit that room. Liquidation value in this case would likely be a lot less than 

historical book value. 

• Accounting ent•'ty: under this concept, the accounting entity is separate and distinguishable from its 
owners. For example, the accounting entity of a sole trader is d ifferentiated from the financial affairs of 

the owner. Similarly, a company is a separate entity from its shareholders. If either the sole trader or a 

shareholder of a company goes out and buys a new set of golf clubs. it may affe-ct his or her personal 

finances but does not affect the accounting entity. Accounting entities do not necessarily correspond to 
legal entities. For example, as noted above, the personal financial affairs of the sole trader can be 

separated from the finances of the business, although there is no legal d istinction. This concept puts a 

boundary on the transactions that are to be r&C:Otded for any particular accounting entity. It also allows 

the owner to evaluate the performance of the business. 

• Accounting period: the life of a business needs to be d ivided into d iscrete periods to evaluate 

performance for that period. Dividing the life of an o rganisation into equal periods to determine profit o r 

loss for that period is known as the accounting period concept. The time periods are arbitrary, but most 

organisations report at least annually, w ith large companies p reparing half.yeafly and quarterly financial 
statements for outside purposes (in some countries) and at least monthly (sometimes more frequently) 

financial statements for management purposes. 

• Monetary: accounting transactions need to be measured in a common denominator, which in Australia is, 

not surprisingly, the Australian dollar. This allows comparisons across periods and across different 

companies. Transactions that cannot be reasonably assigned a dollar value are not included in the 

accounts. This concept also assumes that the value of the monetary unit is constant over time, which 

ignores inflation. 

• Historical cost: under the historical cost concept, assets are initially re-corded at cost. As you will see in 

later chapters, many assets, such as inventory, will still be re-corded at cost in the balance sheet in 

subsequent periods although their value has increased. Some other assets - such as property. plant and 

equipment - can be revalued periodically. Thus. in reading a balance sheet it is important to note at 

"""'at valuation the assets are being re-corded. 

Some of these basic concepts have already been b riefly mentioned earlier in this chapter, and all w ill be 

referred to again throughout the book. We note that the Framework only lists accrual accounting and going 

concern as the basic assumptions of financial reporting, but many authors, indud ing us, would also include 

the accounting entity, accounting period, monetary assumptions and historical costs. 

1.9 Is accounting really important? 
In case you are not convinced that accounting numbers (profit and balance sheet figures) are important, we l!!ZJ 
hope the following examples may convince you. Concrete examples of our suggestions appear in the 

financial section of most newspapers every day. Our examples below show that a lot of emphasis is p laced 

on accounting figures (especially profits) in decision-making by management and by users such as 

shareholders and creditors, corporate boards and consumer groups, as well as their impact on a range of 

other community groups. 

a Used by management in making business decisions. Accounting numbers have an important impact on 

management decisions to contract and expand the business. which in tum affect employees. suppliers, 
contractors and the economy. For example, the availability of large sums of cash, undrawn debt facilities, 

and growing cash flows enable companies to take advantage of opportunities to expand by acquiring 

other businesses. On the other hand. businesses are often put up for sale when they cannot provide the 

financial performance (as measured by accounting numbers) to give investors the retum they want, o r 

they take actions indud ing cutting staff numbers and/or selling off some other parts of the business. 
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b Used by shareholders for decision-making purposes (and impact on shareholders). Both good and bad 

accounting news often has a big impact on the share market (see Chapter 6 for a more soph isticated 

d iscussion). In particular, when companies announce bad news their share prices are usually adversely 

affected and sometimes the drops can result in a $100 million plus decrease in t he value of the company. 

c Used by bankers and other creditor groups. Bankers use accounting numbers to decide whether to lend, 

to determine the level of risk and often t he interest rate to charge. Rating agencies such as Standard & 

Poor's and Moody's use accounting numbers to give their cred it ratings, which have an impact on the 

interest rates companies have to pay. Weaker accounting numbers can result in the loss of the much 

desired AAA credit rating. This applies not on ly to companies b ut State governments which have 

received warnings about ongoing deficits, growing risk and the decline in debt ratios. 

d Used by corporate boards in rewarding and removing executives. Most executive compensation schemes 

include performance bonuses, and accounting numbers are key components of these performance 

hurdles. You will find many reports of pay changes of many mil lions of dollars for CEOs of the largest 

companies d ue to meeting or not meeting profitabil ity targets. 

e Used by unions and management in negotiating wage agreements. In pay disputes, both managers and 

unions often use accounting numbers to support their case. For example, the higher the profits, the more 

likely the pay increases. Unions often refer to the company's high profit levels when arguing for higher 

wages. 

f Impact on the community and consumers. Dwindling profits have resu lted in movement of sporting events 

(e.g. moving the A ustral ian Grand Prix), changing budget allocation to TV stations which affect the 

programs they offer, music festiva ls cancelled in future years, etc. 

g Impact on employees and jobs. Accounting numbers can lead to corporate failure, with resu lting 

consequences for workers. In Australia, there have been major losses of jobs in t he car manufacturing 

industry which has been closed down due to falling profits. For example, cessation of manufacturing of 

Holden resulted in the loss of approximately 3000 jobs at Holden, but many other job losses in 

companies that were suppliers of tyres, steering wheels, etc. 
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CHAPTER 1: Introduction to financial accounting 

PRACTICE PROBLEMS 

Solutions to practice problems can be found at t he end of the chapter. These problems are intended to 

faci litate self-study and additional pract ice: don't look at the solution for any of these without giving the 
problem a serious try first, because once you have seen the solution it always looks easier t han it is. 

PRACTICE PROBLEM A 
Classification of items 

Listed below are ba lances at 30 June 2019. 

Cash at bank 

Inventory 

Sa les 

Wages 

Cost of goods sold 

Share capital 

Accounts payable 

1 Classify each account as an asset, liab ility, revenue, expense or equity. 

2 Prepare an income statement for t he period ending 30 June 2019. 

3 Prepare a ba lance sheet at 30 June 2019. 

PRACTICE PROBLEM B 
Accrual profit 

210 000 

60 000 

210 000 

40 000 

70 000 

140 000 

30 000 

1 During the accounting period, Green Limited received $750 000 f rom sales and paid out $580 000 in 

wages and other expenses. However, an extra $260 000 worth of sa les were made d uring the year but t he 

cash has not been collected yet. The company also owes $240 000 for various expenses. What is t he 

accrual profit? 

2 Green Limited purchased 3000 items for $5 each on credit and sells 2000 of t hese items on credit for $8. 

What is the sales revenue and cost of goods sold for t he period? 

PRACTICE PROBLEM C 
Calculate shareholders' equity 

Given the fo llowing info rmation relating to Penguin Ltd , what IS the balance of shareholders' equity? 

(Remember A = L + SE) 

Property, plant and equipment 1 500 000 

Accounts receivable 400 000 

Cash 100 000 

Inventory 500 000 

Bank loan 250 000 

Wages payable 90 000 
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HOMEWORK AND DISCUSSION TO DEVELOP 
UNDERSTANDING 

This section starts with simplef discussion questions that revise some of the basic concepts, which are then 

followed by a set of problems. 

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS 

1 What is the basic purpose of financial accounting? 

2 Distinguish between financial performance and financial position. 

3 What is the difference between financial and management accounting? 

4 Who are the main parties that comprise the social setting of accounting? 

5 What is meant by credible periodic reporting? What prevents organisations from making financial 
statements increasingly credible? (Consider cost-benefit implications.) 

6 Ust four important users of financial accounting and describe the use that each user would make of the 

information. 

7 Do all users of financial accounting have the same information needs? Why or why not? 

8 Ust some similarities and differences between the need fot financial information for shareholders and 
bankers. 

9 Ust five situations in which judgement is required by the preparers of financial infonnation. 

10 What does an audit achieve? 

11 Describe what is meant by accrual accounting. How does it differ from cash accounting? 

12 Who uses accrual accounting? 

13 Consider the following accounts: accounts payable, accounts receivable. cash and inventoty. Which of these 
terms would you see in financial statements prepared under (a) accrual accounting and (b) cash accounting? 

14 What are the three key financial statements, and what relevant information do they provide to users of 

accounting reports? 

15 Explain, in simple terms, each of the following financial accounting tenns: 

a accounting entity 

b accounting period 

c monetary 

d histotical cost 

e going concem 

f materiality. 

16 What are the fundamental qualitative characteristics of useful financial infonnation and what are the 
enhancing charactefistics? 

17 Provide an example of trade-offs amoog accounting principles. 

18 The Framework states that understandability is an enhancing qualitative characteristic. Is this consistent with 
the huge complexity in financial statements? 

PROBLEMS 

PROBLEM 1.1 
What are various people's interests in financial accounting? 

Briefly describe what each of the following people would likely want to leam from the financial statements of 

BrandX Ltd, and how each might be affected if the statements showed good or bad financial performance or 
financial position. 

1 The chief executive officer (CEO) of the company 

2 The company's chief financial officer (CFO) 
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3 The chairperson of the company's board of directors (the board evaluates the CEO's performance on behalf 

of the shareholders) 

4 The partner of auditing firm Dimbleby & Co., for whom BrandX is a cl ient 

5 The local manager of tax collections for the Austra lian Taxation Office 

6 John Flatstone, who owns 100 shares of BrandX 

7 Mildred Evans, who is thinking of buying some shares of the company 

8 The local manager of Big Bank, which has made a large loan to BrandX 

PROBLEM 1.2 
What are various people's interests in financial accounting? 

Briefly describe what each of the following groups would like to know from the financial statements of the 

Swans Football Club. 

1 The CEO 

2 The players 

3 The supporters 

4 The suppliers of gourmet p ies and beer for home games 

PROBLEM 1.3 
Users and their needs 

Accounting information is demanded by a w ide range of external users, including shareholders, bankers, 

suppliers, trade unions, the Austra lian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) and the Australian 

Taxation Office (ATO). Which user is likely to seek each of the following types of information? 

1 The profitability of each division in the company 

2 The likelihood of the company meeting its interest payments on time 

3 The prospects for future d ividend payments 

4 The probabi lity that the company will be able to pay for its purchases on time 

5 The profitability of the company based on the tax law 

6 The change in profitability of the company since the last contract with employees was signed 

7 The d isclosures on the financial position and performance of a company issuing shares to the public for the 

f irst t ime. 

PROBLEM 1.4 
Calculate accrual accounting profit 

Paul Jones set up his own catering business on 1 July 2018. During the 12 months up to 30 June 2019 the 

following transactions occurred: 

1 Paul put $30 000 of his own money into the business. 

2 He borrowed $40 000 from the bank for one year at 5 per cent per annum, w ith interest to be paid at the 

end of the loan. 

3 He pa id $12 000 in wages and owed $2400 in wages for work done. 

4 He bought catering equipment for $8000, which has an expected useful life of four years. 

5 He pa id other expenses of $10 000. 

6 Paul sent bills for $60 000 to customers for work performed between 1 July 2018 and 30 June 2019. By 

30 June he had received $55 000 and expected the other $5000 by August. 

Using the concepts of accrual accounting, calculate Pau l's profit for the year ended 30 June 2019. 

PROBLEM 1.5 
Accrual profit 

Lock Limited made cash sales of $650 000 and credit sales of $270 000 ($150 000 of which had been collected 

by year-end). It paid $400 000 in expenses and owed $220 000 at year-end. What was the accrual profit? 
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PROBLEM 1.6 
Calculate accrual accounting profit 

James Smith started a consu lting business on 1 January 2019. During the period up to 30 June 2019, the 
following transactions occurred: 

1 James put $40 000 of his own money into the business. 

2 He borrowed $40 000 from the bank at 10 per cent per annum for one year with interest to be repa id at 

the end of the loan. 

3 He sent bil ls for $37 000 to customers for work performed. By 30 June he had received $30 000 and 

expected the other $7000 in July. 

4 He bought equipment for $8000 that has an expected useful life of four years. 

5 He paid $14 000 in wages. 

6 He paid other expenses of $15 000. 

7 He received a $3000 b ill for advertising (appeared in newspapers in May; will be paid in July). 

Using the concepts of accrual accounting, calculate James, profit for the four months ending 30 June 2019. 

PROBLEM 1.7 
Accrual profit 

1 During the year ended 30 June 2019, French Horn Ltd made cash sales of $100 000, cred it sa les of 
$200 000 ($50 000 of wh ich were sti ll to be collected at year-end), and received $25 000 owing from 

credit sales, wh ich occurred in May 2018. What is French Horn,s sales revenue for the year ended 30 June 

2019? 

2 Also during the year ended 30 June 2019, French Horn paid $60 000 and owed $10 000 in employee 

wages. Of the $60 000 paid, $5000 related to wages payable as at 30 June 2018. What is the total of 
French Horn,s accrua l accounting expenses? 

3 What is French Horn,s accrual accounting profit for the year ended 30 June 2019? 

PROBLEM 1.8 
Prepare a balance sheet and calculate profit 

1 Given the following ba lances, prepare a balance sheet as at 30 June 2019 for Wil low Tree Limited. 

Share capital 260 000 

Bank loan 40 000 

Accounts payable 80 000 

Wages payable 60 000 

Inventory 170 000 

Cash at bank 70 000 

Buildings 200 000 

Retained profits 90 000 

Accounts receivable 90 000 

2 The company did not declare any dividends during the year. Its balance in reta ined profits at the start of 

the year was $70 000. What is the profit for the year? 
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PROBLEM 1.9 
Contents of financial statements 

Match each item with the financial statement it would appear in by ticking the appropriate column. 

ttem Balance sheet Income statement Statement of cash 
flows 

Wage$ expei'IS~ 

cash paM!' foe equ rptn~nt 

cas~ at bank 

Equiptn~nt 

cash flow from <ustomers 

A«ounts payable 

cash paM!' to ~mployees 

Saii!S revl!l'lue 

PROBLEM 1.10 
Comparing net profits and cash flow 

Kingsford Customs was founded on 1 July 2019. At the end of the first year's operations, the following 

summary of its activities has been pc'epared by the owner. 
1 Borrowed cash of $60 000 from CAA Bank. 

2 Employees earned $96 800 of wages, of which $40 000 is to be paid in the next accounting period. 

3 Performed customised services that generated sales revenue of $243 300, of which $100 000 remained 
uncollected at the end of the year. 

4 Other operating expenses, including phone bills and electricity amounting to $26 800, were incurred during 

the year. Of this amount, $10 000 remained unpaid at the end of the year. 

Show the effect on net profit and cash of each of the above transactions for this accounting period. 

PROBLEM 1.11 

Contents of financial statements 

Match each item with the financial statement that it would appear in by ticking the appropriate column. 

Item Asset liability Shareholders' Revenue Expense 
equity 

lnvl!l'ltO')' 

Cleat~mg expei'ISI!S 

cast~ at bank 

Marketil'lg expei'ISI!S 

&11ldings 

Income taxes payabl~ 

loans from banks 

Accounts payable 

Retained profits 

Accounts rKI!Ivable 

Income tax expei'ISe 

Co<t ol goods s.ld 

Sates rh'enu~ 
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PROBLEM 1.12 
Classification of items 

Listed below are balances for 2019. 

Accounts receivable 100 000 

Sales 250 000 

Electricity 30 000 

Retained profits 70 000 

Loan 200 000 

Transportation costs 10 000 

1 Classify each account as an asset, liability, revenue, expense or equity. 

2 Prepare an income statement for the period ending 31 December 2019. 

PROBLEM 1.13 
The accounting equation 

Cardigan Ltd has tota l assets of $150 000 and liabilities that add up to $70 000 as at 30 June 2018. 

1 What is Card igan's shareholders' equity as at 30 June 2018? 

2 During the year to 30 June 2019, Card igan's tota l assets increase by $63 000 wh ile tota l liabilities increase 

by $25 000. What is the amount of Card igan's shareholders' equity on 30 June 2019? 

3 Now assume that in the year to 30 June 2019, Cardigan's total liabilities increase by $20 000 and its 

shareholders' equity decreases by $12 000. On 30 June 2019, what is the level of Cardigan's total assets? 

4 Assume that in the year to 30 June 2019, Cardigan's total assets double while its shareholders' equity 

remains unchanged. What are its tota l liabilities as at 30 June 2019? 

PROBLEM 1.14 
The accounting equation 

Use the accounting equation to answer the following questions. 

1 Pillow Ltd halved its liabil ities during the year. At the beginning of the year, the amount of total assets was 

$80 000 and owners' equity was $50 000. What is the amount of Pillow's total liabilities at the end of 

the year? 

2 Buffalo Ltd began the year with assets of $60 000 and liabilities of $25 000. Net profit for the year was 

$43 000. What is the amount of owners' equity at the end of the year? 

3 During the last f inancial year, Sparkle Industries tripled the amount of its assets. At the end of the year, total 

liabil ities amounted to $57 000 whi le owners' equity was $15 000. What was the amount of tota l assets at 

the beginning of the year? 

PROBLEM 1.15 
Matching financial statement items to statement categories 

Raindrop Holdings Ltd is a public company. Below are items taken from its recent consolidated ba lance sheet 

and consolidated income statement. Note that different companies use slightly different t itles for the same 

item. Mark each item in the following list as an asset (A), liability (L) or shareholders' equity (SE) that would 

appear on the balance sheet, or revenue (R) or expense (E) that would appear on the income statement. 

1 Property, p lant and equipment 

2 Sales revenue 

3 Trade and other payables 

4 Advertising costs 

5 Provisions 
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6 Inventories 

7 Prepayments 

8 Revenue received in advance 

9 Reserves 

10 Cash and cash equivalents 

11 Depreciation 

12 Cost of sales 

PROBLEM 1.16 
Income statement 

Given the following information, p repare an income statement for PK Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2019. 

Sales 350 000 

Cost of goods sold 200 000 

Rent expense 30 000 

Wages 75 000 

Advertising 25 000 

Tra ining expense 9 000 

PROBLEM 1.17 
Income statement 

Given the fo llowing balances, p repare an income statement for the yea r ended 30 June 2019 for Bush Traders. 

Sales 480 000 

Cost of goods sold 210 000 

Wages 80 000 

Electricity 40 000 

Travel 20 000 

Advertising 10 000 

PROBLEM 1.18 

Analysing revenues and expenses and preparing an income statement 

Assume you are the owner of Double Cafe, a coffee shop in Sydneis CBD. At the end of June 2019, you f ind 

(for June on ly) this information: 

1 Sales, as per cash register records, of $47 000, p lus sales on cred it (two b irthday parties) of $750. 

2 The cost of goods sold during June had cost $16 000 consisting of coffee, cups and cakes. 

3 During the month, according to the cheque book, you pa id $14 000 for salaries, rent, advertising and other 

expenses; however, you have not yet paid the $680 month ly b ill for electricity for June. 

On the basis of the data g iven (d isregard income taxes), what was the amount of net profit for June? Show 

computations. 
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PROBLEM 1.19 
Calculate shareholders' equity 

GT Limited has the following assets and liabilities. 

Cash 

Loan 

Accounts payable 

Accounts receivable 

Equrpment 

1 Classify each balance as an asset or a liability. 

2 Calculate shareholders' equity. 

PROBLEM 1.20 
Calculate shareholders' equity 

100 000 

150 000 

110 000 

170 000 

200 000 

Given the following information relating to Stripes Ltd, what is the balance of shareholders' equity? 

PROBLEM 1.21 

Land and bu1ldings 

Accounts payable 

Cash at~d cash equrvalents 

lnvento.y 

Banl: loa;~ 

T...,s payabl• 

Matching cash flow statement items to categories 

2800 000 

250 000 

340 000 

410 000 

600 000 

104 000 

The following items were taken from a recent cash flow statement. Note that different companies use slightly 
different titles for the same item. Mal'l: each item in the list as a cash flow from operating activities (0), 

investing activities (I) or financing activities (F). 

1 Cash paid to employe<>< 

2 Cash borrowed from the bank 

3 Cash JYOCeeds r~eived from sale of investment in another company 

4 Income taxes paid 

5 Repayment of loan principal 

6 Cash r~eived in return for issue of share capital 

7 Cash r~eived from customers 

8 PurchasE>s of propE>rty, p lant and equipmE>nt 

9 Cash paid to suppli<>rs 

10 Cash paid for dividE>nds to sharehold<>rs 

11 Repayment of loan interest 

PROBLEM 1.22 
Identify some accounting concepts and principles 

Identify the accounting concepts or principles that relate to each of the following sentences and explain what 
effect the concepts ot J)(inciples have on financial statements: 

1 Users of financial statements should be able to believe that the numbetS represent real events. 
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2 It is hard to say absolutely if a company is performing well or bad ly, but you can evaluate its relative 

performance. 

3 Financial accounting should be helpful both in understanding the past and looking ahead to the future. 

PROBLEM 1.23 
Accounting assumptions 

Consider the fo llowing statements relating to how we might account for certain t ransactions or events. What 

accounting assumption or principle underlies each? 

1 ,Accounting f inancial statements are primarily based on historical costs., 

2 ,At the end of each period, a company has to calculate any salaries that have accrued, and recognise an 

expense and a liability for that amount., 

3 ,If a company changes its depreciation policy, it needs to disclose (in the notes to the financia l statements) 

the nature of the change, and its financia l effects., 

4 ,If a company issues new shares this is recorded in the companis books. However, a sale of the company,s 

shares f rom one shareholder to another is not., 

PROBLEM 1.24 
Qualitative characteristics 

The Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements examines the characteristics of 

accounting information that make this information useful for decision-making. It also points out that various 

limitations, wh ich are inherent in the measurement and reporting process, may necessitate trade-offs between 

these limitations and the positive characteristics of usefu l information. 

1 Briefly describe the fo llowing characteristics of useful accounting information: 

a relevance 

b fa ithful representation 

c understandabil ity 

d comparabil ity 

e t imeliness 

f verification . 

2 For each of the following pa irs of information characteristics, g ive an example of a situation in which one of 

the characteristics may be sacrificed in return for a gain in the other: 

a relevance and verification 

b fa ithful representation and timeliness 

c comparabil ity and relevance 

d relevance and understandability. 

PROBLEM 1.25 
Identify some accounting concepts and principles 

Identify the accounting concepts or principles that relate to each of the fo llowing sentences, and explain what 

effect the concepts or principles have on f inancial statements: 

1 Users of financia l statements should be able to believe that the numbers represent rea l events. 

2 Financial statements should avoid undue optimism about the future. 

3 It is hard to say absolutely if a company is performing well or bad ly, but you can evaluate its relative 

performance. 

4 Financial accounting should be helpful both in understanding the past and looking ahead to the future. 
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CASES 

CASE 1 A Woolworths Limited 

Refer to the extracts of the 2017 annual report of Woolworths Limited in the book's appendix. All questions 

relate to the consolidated accounts. 

1 On what date does Woolworths' most recent reporting year end? 

2 For how many years does it present complete: 

a balance sheets? 

b income statements? 

c cash f low statements? 

3 Provide indicators that Woolworths uses accrual accounting. 

4 What were total assets at 25 June 2017? 

5 What were total liabilities at 25 June 2017? 

6 What was shareholders' equity at 25 June 2017? 

7 State the accounting equation in dollar figures at 25 June 2017. 

8 What was the net profit before tax for 2017? 

9 What was the net profit after tax for 2017? 

10 What were the largest cash inflow and outflow relating to operating activities? 

11 Give two reasons why the cash flow from operations is a d ifferent figu re from operating profit after tax. 

12 Did its total assets increase or decrease over the last year? 

13 How much inventory (in dollars) d id Woolworths have as at 25 June 2017? 

14 Are its f inancial statements audited by an independent f irm? Who is the auditor for the company? 

15 What information wou ld Woolworths' investors and lenders be most interested in? 

16 Provide examples of the accounting principles of materia lity and comparabil ity from note 1 of the accounts. 

CASE 1 B Accrual and cash profit in measuring performance 

Wings Ltd is an airline services company w ith a plant near Sydney A irport and service centres in several states. 

It provides meals, serviettes and other food-related items, cleaning, interior maintenance and several other 

services to various ai rl ines. The company has been fai rly successful, though recessions and the deregulation of 

air services have put significant pressure on its operations. When the company began in the late 1990s, it had 

a relatively weak financial position (main ly because of borrowing to get set up) and its f inancial performance, 

wh ile satisfactory, has not enabled it to reduce its debt load very much. It seems that every t ime the company 

gets a little ahead, new equipment must be purchased or new product lines developed, and the company finds 

itself borrowing again. 

A recent year provides a good example. The company's accrual profit was $188 000 and its cash profit was 

$241 000. (The difference resulted because of a depreciation expense of $96 000 and uncollected revenue 

being $43 000 higher at the end of the year than at the beginning. In the company's f inancial statements, the 

phrase 'net profit for the year' was used to describe the accrual p rofit and 'cash generated by operations' 

described the cash p rofit.) The CEO had looked forward to using some of the cash to pay debts, but late in 

the year the company had to buy new food-hand ling and wrapping equ ipment for $206 000 to meet revised 

standards announced by its airline customers. Therefore, the company ended up only a few thousand dollars 

ahead in cash, not enough to make much of a dent in its debts. 

The CEO has a regular half-yearly meeting w ith the company's external auditor to d iscuss accounting and 

auditing issues. After the above results were known, the CEO phoned the auditor and made the fo llowing 

comments: ' I thought I'd ask you to think about a few th ings before our meeting next week. When it comes to 

our accounting, I think the company has too many masters and too many measures. What I mean is first that 

too many people are concerned with what our financial statements say. Why can't we just prepare financial 

statements that meet my needs as CEO? Why do we have to worry about all the other people outside the 
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CHAPTER 1. Introduction to financial accounting 

company? Sometimes I'm not even sure who all those other people are, since you accountants and auditOC'S 
often just talk about " users" without being too dear what you mean. Also, I'm confused by the existence of 
both a "net ptofit" figure and a "cash generated by ope!ations" figure in our financial statements. Why can't 
we just have one or the other to measure our perfonnance?' 

The CEO raised issues that will be addressed frequently as this book develops your undetstanding. But fot 
now, what would you say to the CEO? 

CASE 1 C Audit and ethics issues 

Assume you were reading an article on the auditing profession in a professional accounting magazine that 
included terms such as independence and auditors' responsibilities. tt also noted that there was a large 
standards expectation gap between auditors and users of financial statements. 

1 What is meant by independent assurance? 

2 Give some examples of lack of independence. 

3 What does the 'Expectation Gap' refe< to? 
4 How do management's and auditors' responsibilities d iffer? 

5 Why is the integrity of management important to the financial reporting process? 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING SOLUTIONS 

1A Financial performance and financial position. 

1 B {i) Cash profit $100 000 - $60 000 = $40 000 
{ii) Accrual profit $100 000 + $200 000-$60 000- $10 000 = $230 000 

1C {i) A 

{li) 

{iii) 

~v) 

(v) 

(vij 

10 m 
{ii) 

L 

Not listed in the balance sheet 

SE 
A 

L 

$60 000; $100 000- L = $40 000 
$500 000; A = $200 000 + $300 000 

~ii) $40 000; $300 000 = $200 000 + $600 000 + RE 

1E $100 000 + $60 000- $40 000 = $120 000 

PRACTICE PROBLEM SOLUTIONS 

PRACTICE PROBLEM A 

1 Account Classification 

Cash at bank AsS<!l 

Inventory AsS<!l 

Sales Revet~ue 

WagM bpet~se 

Co• of goods sold bpet~se 

Sl\are capital Equity 

Ae<ounts pa:yablt l.iab,lrty 
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2 

3 

Sales 

Cost of goods sold 

Gross profit 

Wages 

Net profit 

210 000 

(70 000) 

140 000 

(40 000) 

100 000 

Assets Liabilities and shareholders' equity 

Cash at bank 

Inventory 

210 000 Accounts payable 

60 000 Share cap ital 

Retained profits 

270 000 

30 000 

140 000 

100 000* 

270 000 

*Opening retained profi t + profit-dividend = closing balance retained profit (0 + 100 000 - 0 = 100 000) 

PRACTICE PROBLEM B 
1 Accrua l profit 

2 Sales revenue 

= total sa les - total expenses 
= $750 000 + 260 000- 580 000- 240 000 
= $190 000 

= 2000 X $8 
= $16 000 

Cost of goods sold = 2000 x $5 
= $10 000 

PRACTICE PROBLEM C 
Shareholders' equity = Assets- Li abilities 

= (Property, plant and equipment $1 500 000 + Accounts receivable $400 000 + Cash 
$100 000 + Inventory $500 000) - (Bank loan $250 000 + Wages payable $90 000) 

= $2 500 000- 340 000 
= $2 160 000 

COURSEMATE EXPRESS 

36 

WEBSITE RESOURCES 
-~ 
f CourseMateExpress 

Go to http:/ /login.cengagebrain.com and use the access 

code that comes with this book for 12 months access to the resources and study tools for this chapter. 

The CourseMate Express website contains: 

> student revision quizzes 

> g lossary of key terms and flas hcards 

> and more! 
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Measuring and 
evaluating financial position 

and financial performance 

CHAPTER OVERVIEW 

Chapter 1 introduced accrual accounting, the key financial statements and the users and preparers of these 

statements. Now we turn to three chapters that set out f inancial accounting's resu lts and outline t he record

keeping system that leads to those results. This chapter focuses on the content and use of the statements 

measuring financia l position at a particu lar date (a balance sheet) and measuring financial performance (an 

income statement) over a period. Chapters 3 and 4 consider how the double-entry system produces 

accounts and how these accounts are assembled together to form fi nancia l statements. 

The balance sheet is f inancial accounting's oldest and most basic report. It measures the organisation's 

financia l position at a particular date and is the basis for much financial analysis. In fact, many companies use 

the term 'Statement of Financia l Position' instead of 'Balance Sheet'. Figure 2.1 outlines what you wil l learn in 

the next three chapters: 

• procedures and techniques: how the double-entry accounting system produces accounts, and how to 

assemble a balance sheet and an income statement from those accounts 

• concepts and principles: why the balance sheet and income statement are important and why they are 

arranged as they are 
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• analysis and decisions: using the financial statements to understand how an o rganisation is put together 

financially and how it does its business, and using it to do some analysis of the organisation's financial 

health and performance. 

How 
Procedures and 

techntq ues 

Why 
Co ncepts and 

p rinciples 

iijtCii);J#ii The how, why and uses of accounting 

Uses 
Analysis and 

decisions 

The balance sheet summarises, at a particular date, the organisation's financial position as accounting 

measures it, in three categories of lists: 

• resources (such as cash, inventory, land and buildings), called assets 

• obligations {such as loans owing and debts to suppliers), called liabilities 

• owners' interests (what's left after subtracting the obligations from the resources), called equity. 

The individual items in each of these lists are called accounts, so over the centuries the task of p reparing 

them has been named accounting, and the people who do it are accountants. All these words are derived 

from 'count', which is where accounting began: just counting things and listing them. Recall from Chapter 1 

that: 

Assets • Liabilities+ Shareholders' equity 

The balance sheet portrays the organisation by arranging its lists of accounts so that the assets sum to the 

same total as the other two lists, and setting them beside (or below) each other, something like this: 

Assets liabilities and equity 

nem b 

Ett 

Total 

~~ Item x 

~~ Item y 

J1 ElL 

~~~ Total 

Be-cause the left total equals the right total, accountants say that they balance - hence the name balance 

sheet. The underlying accounting system maintains this balance by making sure that any changes in one side 

of the balance sheet are matched by changes in the other side (e.g. assets increase and liabilities increase 

from buying an asset and owing the supplier) Of by opposite changes on the same side of the equation (e.g. 

buy inventory for cash where an asset 'inventory' increases and another asset 'cash' decreases). This requires 

that each change be recorded twice, so the accounting system is called double.entry. The balance sheet 

tums out to be the accumulation of everything financial accounting has recorded about the o rganisation 

since the day the organisation began, so it is the fundamental cumulative accounting record. 

The balance sheet provides important information about the organisation's financial structure and 

strength, but its description of the organisation's financial position is not the only story to be told. Its p icture 

is static: it tells us what the position is at a point in time. Most managers, owners and creditOtS also want to 

know how well the o rganisation is performing and how it got to where it is. To provide that explanation, we 

need to measure financial performance. This is pcovided by an income statement (often called a profit and 

loss statement internally within o rganisations). 
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CHAPTER 2: Measuring and evaluating financial position and financial performance 

Corporations- which are legally incorporated companies such as Oantas, Commonwealth Bank, Telstra, 

BHP Bill iton, Woolworths and thousands of local, national and international businesses - produce financial 

statements at least annually. So do many other kinds of organisations, such as the City of Brisbane, the 

Salvation Army, the Government of Australia and your university's student union. We main ly focus on 

businesses, especially corporations, but other kinds of organisations are considered where appropriate. 

For large corporations, especially public compan ies whose shares are traded on stock markets, the 

fi nancia l statements are included in a larger document called an annual report. An annual report typically 

begins with narrative material on the corporation's performance and prospects, moves on to an extensive 

discussion and analysis by management, then t urns to the fi nancial statements: the balance sheet, the 

income statement and the statement of cash flows. The first two are discussed in t his chapter, and the 

statement of cash flows is discussed in Chapter 14. 
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2.1 Introduction to the balance sheet 
11(•1 I The balance sheet is on ly one of the set of financial statements, each of wh ich is important for particu lar uses. 

However, as the summary of the double-entry system, the balance sheet is a critical part of financia l 

accounting. It ba lances, conta ining two lists that have the same dol lar tota l and together describe the 

organisation's f inancial position at a particular date. 

The first list is the organ isation's financia l resources at that date, as measured by the financia l accounting 

methods you w ill learn. These resources, called assets, include the organisation's cash, accounts receivable 

(money customers have promised to pay), inventory (goods for sale), land, bui ld ings, equipment and many 

other resources that the organisation has accumulated and can use in the future. 

The second list is the sources, or f inancing, of those resources at that date. 

• These financing sources include existing obl igations that will have to be paid in the future, such as loans 

from the bank, amounts due to be paid to employees and suppliers (wages payable and accounts 

payable respectively), long-term borrowings, and many other debts. Some estimates of future payments 

are also included, although they may not be legal ly owed just yet, such as promises to pay employee 

holiday leave and estimated future warranty costs based on the expected warranty expenses related to 

sales already made. A ll these legal obligations and estimates together are ca lled liabilities. 

• The list of sources also includes amounts received from owners, which normal ly involve permanent 

financing and do not have to be repaid (often cal led 'capital'), p lus any past profits that have not been 

paid out to the owners in the form of d iv idends. Owners can finance an organisation by contributing 

money to the organ isation, or by not taking profit out of the organisation, as we will see. The owners' 

investment is cal led owners' equity, or just equity. (For corporations, which are owned by shareholders, 

the term is usually shareholders' equity.) 

Because the ba lance sheet balances, the tota l amount of assets must equal the total of liabilities plus 

equity. Arithmetical ly, the accounting equation (often ca lled the balance sheet equation) therefore is: 

Sum of assets = Sum of liabilities+ Sum -of equity 

This gives us the accounting equation: 

Assets = Liabilities +Shareholders' equity 

This equation is fundamental to financial accounting. Accounting procedures are designed to create and 

maintain this equa lity at all t imes. For example, if you obtain $100 by borrowing from the bank, your balance 

sheet wou ld list the $100 cash you received as a resource and the $100 obligation to repay as a liability. By 

maintaining this equality, financial accounting ensures that al l the financing sources that go with the 

resources are identified, and vice versa . This balanced pair of lists is one of the main reasons for financia l 

accounting's va lue as an information system. 

The two lists are put side by side, or the first above the second, as in the standard style shown in Figure 2.2. 

Side-by-side style 

Assets: 
Useful f inancial 
resources 

Format of balance sheet 
(all figures are as of a particular date) 

OR 

Liabilities: 
Obl igations to be paid 

Equity: 
Owners' investment 

In both cases, sum A = sum L + sum E 

FIGURE 2.2 Balance sheet 

Vertical style 

Assets: 
Useful f inancial resources 

Liabilities: 
Obligations to be paid 

Equity: 
Owners' investment 
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CHAPTER 2: Measuring and evaluating financial position and financial performance 

Exhibit 2.1 is a simple example of a balance sheet using the side·by·side style to emphasise the equality 
of the two lists, with assets on the left and liabilities and equity on the right. Explanations of the terms used 

in the balance sheet follow the example. 

iijiii:Jifli 

Assers 

Current asseu 

C.sh 

A«ounts •«eivable 

lnventety 

Not~currtnt aSStU 

L!nd 

Equrptnent (!let)" 

Total 

SOUND AND LIGHT LTD 

BAlANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2019 

sooo sooo sooo sooo 

llabllftlos and tqulty 

Currt nt llabUitits 

so Ac<Ounts payable 7l 

75 Wages payable .1!! 103 

.!12 245 

Noncumnt llabllitlt.s 

100 loan 87 

ll2 250 Total llabllftlts 190 

Sh.,hold#rs' tqu/ty 

Sl\are <apital 130 

Retained profits ill. .w. 
.ill Total .ill 

• E"'lpment (nel) • Cost- Aau~N.~Ialed depreoatJOn • S272 000- S122 000- StSO 000 

Let's review some features of this balance sheet: 

• The tit le identities the organisation (Sound and Light Ltd), the point in time at which it is drawn up 

(30 June 2019) and the currency in which amounts are measured (thousands of dollars). 

• The balance sheet balances! As at 30 June 2019, total assets of $495 000 are exactly equalled by the 
total sources of these assets (i.e. liabilities and shareholders' equity). It is a summary, so we cannot tell 

exactly which source produced which asset or assets; for example, the $50 000 of cash came partly from 

bank borrowing and partly from other sources, such as past profits. (More about sources shortly.) 

• Assets are usually separated into shorter·tenn ones (current assets) and longer·tenn ones (noncurrent 

assets). (More about these categories below.) 

• Like assets, liabilities are usually separated into shorter·tenn ones (current liabilit ies) and longer·term ones 

(noncurrent liabilities). 

• The balance sheet shows several individual accounts, telling us about the company's particular financial 

structure. For example, the company expects to receive $75 000 from customers (accounts receivable) 

and owes $73 000 to its suppliers (accounts payable). The company owes $30 000 to the bank but has 
chosen not to pay it all back, keeping more than that ($50 000) on hand as cash. (These accounts are 
usually aggregates o f many smaller accounts; for example, there is an account for each customer who 

owes money to Sound and light.) 

• The $495 000 of assets have been financed by $190 000 ($103 000 + $87 000) of liabilities and $305 000 
of owners' equity. 

• Note: the accounting equation always balances: 

Assets • Uablllties + Equi1y 
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HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

2A Which of the fol lowing items would be classified an asset in the balance sheet: 

1(•11 
I(•J:~ 

• Cash at bank 
• Accounts receivable 
• Accounts payable 
• Buildings 
• Retained profits? 

2.2 Explanations of the three balance sheet 
categories: assets/ liabilities and equity 
Recal l from the previous section that Assets = Liabi lities p lus Equity. More detai led explanations of each of 

these elements are discussed below. 

Assets 
Assets are a mixture of the resources that the company needs to do business - for instance, products to sell 

(inventory) and a building to operate from - and the resources that it has accumulated as a resu lt of doing 

business, including amounts due from customers for past sales (accounts receivable). You can think of assets 

as economic resources that have probable future benefits that are control led by the entity. 

More forma lly, assets are resources control led by the entity as a result of past events and from which 

future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity. Based on this defin it ion, assets need to have 

three essential characteristics: 

• Future economic benefits because the assets are used to provide goods and services for exchange, with the 

objective of generating net cash f lows (e.g. through the sale of the asset or the sale of the output produced 

through the use of the asset). Consider the fol lowing examples of assets and how they provide future 

economic benefits. Cash balances are beneficial because of their command over the future economic 

benefits they provide. Assets such as accounts receivable are direct claims to cash inflows (receipt of 

payment from accounts receivable); prepayments (e.g. prepaid rent) provide rights to receive services in the 

future; inventories can be exchanged for cash; and equipment can provide goods or services for sa le. 

• Control by the entity re lates to the capacity of an entity to benefit from the asset in pursuing its objectives 

and to deny or regu late the access of others. For example, if a company owns a truck it can prevent 

others from using it. Some future economic benefits wil l not be controlled by an entity, because the 

entity cannot deny others access to the benefits of the asset; for example, a property developer who 

bui lds home units and is required by the local counci l to put in a public park as part of the project. If the 

park is open to the general public w ithout charge, then the developer does not have control over the 

asset and the public park would not be included as an asset for the property developer. 

• Occurrence of past transactions or other past events means that the transaction or other event g iving the 

entity control over the future economic benefits must have occurred. M ost assets are obtained by an 

entity by using cash, credit (promise to pay in the future) or barter transactions. 

Sound and Light's assets include cash, accounts receivable, inventory, land and equipment. Other 'assets' 

of Sound and Light might include happy employees and a safe working environment - yet these do not 

directly appear on its balance sheet. There is a distinction between the assets that accounting recogn ises 

and these other 'assets'. There are objective, standard measures for the economic control of the first group 

and for demonstrating the probability of future benefits that w il l eventuate for the f irst group, but not for the 

second group. For example, in the first group, an inventory of machine parts is owned by the organ isation 

and has a dol lar cost that can be easi ly verified. The benefit will come from future use or selling the 
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inventory. In the second group, a happy employee is, in theory, more productive than an unhappy employee, 

but it is d ifficult to measure reliably (with any consistency) how much more productive a very happy employee 

is compared with an employee who is only mildly happy. 

Moreover, at least in our society, an organisation does not own its employees! Accounting generally 

records assets only where there is economic control; that is, where the va lue of the asset can be reliably 

measured and it is probable the future benefits will eventuate. The expenditure for market research will not 

qualify as an asset because it is not possible, at the date of expenditure, to establish that it is probable that 

the future benefits w ill eventuate. This places limits on the scope of the financia l statements. 

In summary, an asset is only recognised in the ba lance sheet when (a) it is probable that future economic 

benefits w ill eventuate, and (b) the asset possesses a cost or other value that can be reliably measured. We 

w ill d iscuss these complications in more detail in Chapter 6. 

Assets are usually separated into shorter-term ones (current assets) and longer-term ones (noncurrent 

assets). Current assets are those that are expected to be used, sold or collected within the next year. 

Noncurrent assets, therefore, are expected to have benefits for more than a year into the future. Sound and 

Light has $245 000 in current assets and $250 000 in noncurrent assets. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

28 Which of the following would not be included as assets in the balance sheet: accounts receivable, equipment, share 
capita l, inventory and employees? 

Liabilities 
Liabilities are probable debts or obligations that result from an entity's past transactions (e.g. someone 

providing them with a service) and wil l be paid for with assets (e.g. cash) or services (e.g. providing a service 

to someone who has already paid for that service in advance). More formally, liabi lities are present 

obligations of the entity arising from past events, the settlements of which are expected to result in an 

outflow from the entity of resources embodying economic benefits. 

There are two essential characteristics of liabilities. First, a present obligation exists and the obl igation 

involves settlement in the future via the sacrifice of future economic benefits. Most obl igations are legally 

enforceable; for example, they arise out of contractual arrangements, including money borrowed, amounts 

owing on assets purchased or for services provided, or obligations to provide services to parties who have 

pa id in advance. Obligations can also be imposed on the entity, including damages awarded by courts, 

workers' compensation cla ims and income tax payable. Obligations can also arise from normal business 

practice, custom and a desire to maintain good business relations or act in an equitable manner. If, for 

example, an entity decides as a matter of policy to rectify faults in its products even when these become 

apparent after the warranty period has expired, the warranty amounts that are expected to be expended in 

respect of goods already sold are liabilities. 

The other essential characteristic of a liability is that it has adverse financial consequences for the entity, in 

that the entity is obl iged to sacrifice economic benefits to one or more entities. Thus, the existence of a 

liability depends on the present obligation being such that the legal, socia l, pol itical or economic 

consequences of failing to honour the obligation leave the entity little, if any, discretion to avoid the future 

sacrifice of economic benefits to another entity. 

Liabilities include amounts owed to creditors, such as banks and suppliers, or amounts estimated to be 

due later, such as holiday and long service leave payments to employees, estimated future income taxes or 

interest building up on a bank loan. For example, if an electrician has done repair work on a company 

build ing, the electrician will be owed money (accounts payable). The electrician has done the work (past 

transaction) and the company has a present obligation to pay. 

Not al l liabi lities are expected to be paid in cash; some are 'paid' by providing goods or services. An 

example is a deposit received from a customer for goods to be shipped later. The organisation has the 
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money (an asset) and records a corresponding liability for the deposit, but expe-cts to give the customer the 

agreed--upon goods to discharge the liability. In the meantime, the customer has a daim on the 

organisation, expecting to get either the goods or the cash back if the goods are not supplied. Sound and 
Light's liabilities (Exhibit 2.1) indude amounts owing to suppliers (accounts payable) and amounts owing to 

employees lor wotk done (wages payable) and a long-tenn loan. 
Following the same rule as for assets. liabilities generally include only obligations that can be reliably 

measured. If you are in debt to a friend for $10, that would appear on your balance sheet. However. if you 
are 'in debt' to a friend for saving your life, that would not appear on your balance sheet. The requirement 

that the obligation has arisen from a past transaction means that a promise to pay is a liability if the 

organisation has already received the benefit; for example, if it has received cash from the bank or goods 

from a supplier or hard work from an employee expecting a pension. 
An expectation to pay later is not a liability if the transaction b ring ing the benefit has not happened. For 

example, an agreement to borrow before the cash has been received is not a liability, nor is an order to 

purchase: something before the goods have arrived. Because some of these expe-cted or possible future 
events may result in future payments, even if they do not meet the definition of a liability and so do not 

appear in the balance sheet. they are sometimes described in the notes to the financial statements so that 

the users of the financial statement are aware of them. 

Like assets. liab i111ies are usually separated into shorter-term ones (current liab ilities) and longer-tenn ones 

(noncurrent liabilities). Current liabilities are those that are due (expected to be paid or otherwise d ischarged) 

w ithin the next year. Noncurrent liabilities. therefore, are due more than a year into the future. Some 

liabilities, such as many house mortgages. extend for years into the future, but are partly paid each year, 

so the balance sheet would show both a current and a noncurrent portion for them. Sound and Light has 

$103 000 in current liabilities and $87 000 in noncurrent liabilities. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

2C Consider the following questions: 
(i) Which of the following are liabilities: accounts receivable, inventory, accounts payable, wages payable and 

taxes payable' 
(ii) Would an agreement to borrow money from the bank in three months' time appear in the balance sheet? 
(iii) A company places an order to buy 10 lVs at $600 each on 1 April and receives them on 1 May. When would 

the liability of $6000 be recorded' 

Equity 
Equity is the owners' interest in the organisation. 
• Equity can be derived from direct contributions the owners have made, o r from the accumulation of 

profits that the owners have chosen not to withdraw. For a company, this would mean p rofits that have 

not been distributed as dividends. 

• The details of the owners' equity section of the balance sheet depend on the legal structure of the 

organisation and its ownership arrangements (examined later in this chapter). 

• The balance sheet does not distinguish between assets whose sources are liabilities and assets provided 

by owners. Complex financial events make this impractical, so the assets represent a pool of resources 

provided by all sources. 

• The owners' interest can also be considered as a 'residual' of the sum of the assets minus the obligations 

the organisation has taken on. (If A = L + E, the equation can also be written A - l = E.) 

Because the balance of the shareholders' equity figure equals assets minus liabilities, this residual or net 

concept of equity is often referred to as the book value of the whole organisation. Book value is an arithmetically 

44 CopyrigM 2019 CengaveleamiolJ. All R9'1ts Reserwed. May not be copied. scanned. cw duplicated. in whole e~t> in part. WCN 02·200-202 

sa
m

ple



CHAPTER 2: Measuring and eva luating financial position and financial performance 

val id idea, as the above equation shows. But it may not tel l us very much. For example, if Sound and 

Light suddenly went out of business, the owners would be unlikely to receive exactly the equity of $305 000 

(Exhibit 2.1 ), because nobody knows what the assets would fetch if they had to be sold off all at once, and the 

liabilities perhaps would be settled for something other than t he expected future payments used to record them. 

Similarly, if the owners decided to sell the business, the price they would get wou ld depend on their and the 

buyers' views as to the future success of the business, not just on the accumulated assets and liabi lities recorded 

in the ba lance sheet. Thus, the amount would be very un likely to equa l the ba lance sheet equity f igure. 

Shareho lders' equity is genera lly based on historical transactions, and does not, except by coincidence, 

equal the current market value of the whole business. Many high-technology and internet companies at the 

start of this century had small equity amounts in their balance sheets but huge stock market va lues (market 

capita lisation, or the share price t imes the number of shares outstanding). The stock market may have been 

considering all sorts of 'assets' not included by accounting, such as competitive strength or smart 

employees, and/or expecting good future performance. Many of these share prices have subsequently 

dropped, but there often are d ifferences between the dollar values in the shareholders' equity section of the 

ba lance sheet and the current market price of the company. 

Contributions from owners can come in many forms, including the issue of share capital and the obta ining 

of past profits (discussed below). For a corporation like Sound and Light, the most usual is share capita l: 

people g ive the corporation money in exchange for shares, which are portions of ownersh ip interest. Sound 

and Light owners (shareholders) have contributed $130 000 to the corporation (Exh ibit 2.1 ). For example, 

some owners probably contributed cash to get Sound and Light started, so they would be among the 

sources of the cash asset. Many corporations' shares, also called stocks in some countries (such as the United 

States), are traded on sharemarkets (e.g. the Austra lian Securities Exchange). In such markets, shares are 

traded between owners; t he corporations issuing t he shares receive money on ly when the shares are issued 

by them to the first owners. Therefore, trades subsequent to the initia l share issue are not reflected in the 

corporation's share capital; these trades are transactions for the owners, not for the corporation. 

Past profit retained, usually cal led reta ined profits (or retained earnings), represents past accrual profit not 

yet g iven to owners. (The terms 'earn ings' and 'profit' are used pretty much interchangeably, but they all refer 

to accrual profit, as described in Chapter 1.) Sound and Light has $175 000 in reta ined profits (Exh ibit 2.1 ), 

wh ich means it has $175 000 more in assets than it would have had if those profits had al l been paid out. 

The owners could have w ithdrawn cash or other assets from the company (for instance, by declaring 

themselves a dividend, which is a payment of some of the reta ined profits to the owners), but they have 

chosen instead to leave the assets in the corporation. Thus, those assets are resources of the corporation 

and reta ined profits are their source. The corporation can use the assets to earn more profit in t he future. 

Since E = A - L, it is arithmetica lly possible for equity to be negative. If the assets are less than the 

liabil ities, which wou ld indicate an organisation has more obligations than resources (not a good position to 

be in!), the equity, and t herefore the organisation's book value, will be negative. Such a situation is a sign of 

serious financial problems and is likely to be followed by insolvency. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

20 If assets are resources, what are the possible sources for these assets? 

2.3 Some preliminary analysis of the Sound 
and Light balance sheet 
From the Sound and Lig ht ba lance sheet (Exhibit 2.1 ), we can answer some q uestions about the corporation's 

fi nancia l condition: 

1 Is the organisation sound ly fi nanced? Sound and Light has financed its $495 000 in assets by borrowing 

$103 000 short-term and $87 000 long-term, and by getting $130 000 in contributions from owners and not 
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paying past earn ings of $175 000 out to owners. Its $495 000 in assets are therefore financed by $190 000 

(38.4 per cent) from creditors and $305 000 (61.6 per cent) from the owners. Its debt-to-equity ratio is $190/ 

$305 = 62.3 per cent (often written 0.62:1 ). So, Sound and Light is not much in debt, proportionate ly. What 

wou ld you think if the creditors were owed $450 000 and the shareholders' equity was on ly $45 000? This 

wou ld be a debt-to-equity ratio of $450/$45 = 1000 per cent (1 0: 1 ), much more risky for the creditors 

because a lot more of their money than the owners' money wou ld be at risk if the company ran into trouble. 

Debt to equity ratio =Total liabilities +Total shareholders' equity 

2 Can the organisation pay its b ills on t ime? Sound and Light owes $103 000 in the short term and has only 

$50 000 in cash. Therefore, to pay its bi lls it will have to collect cash from its customers, either by getting 

them to pay what they already owe or by se lling them some inventory for cash. There is likely no problem 

here: collections and sales, and payments to creditors, are probably going on continuously. The company 

has $245 000 of current assets that it shou ld be able to turn into cash to pay the $103 000 of current 

liabilities. It is sa id to have $245 000 - $103 000 = $142 000 in working capita l and a current ratio of 

$245/$103, or 2.38. The working capital is positive, and the ratio indicates there is more than twice as 

much current assets as current liabil ities, so Sound and Light appears to be fine. 

Current ratio =Current assets + Current liabilities 

3 You can see that if the company had a slow period of sa les or collections, it could have difficulty paying 

its bi lls. But if you were concerned about the company's ability to sell inventory to pay its bills, you cou ld 

ca lculate the quick ratio (also ca lled the acid test ratio). It is like the working capital ratio, but has only 

cash, very short-term investments that could be sold, and accounts receivable in its numerator. For Sound 

and Light, the quick ratio would be ($50 000 + $75 000)/$1 03 000 = 1.21. The company cou ld pay its 

current liabilities without having to sel l inventory. What would you think if the company had only $10 000 

in cash and $160 000 in inventory instead of cash of $50 000 and inventory of $120 000? In that case, 

though its working capital and working capital ratio wou ld be the same, it would likely be overstocked 

(i .e. too much inventory) and short of cash, and might have troub le paying bills. Now the quick ratio 

wou ld be ($1 0 000 + $75 000)/$1 03 000 = 0.83. The company wou ld have to sell some inventory to 

meet its current liabilities. A ll ratios are only indicators. They require interpretation of the specific 

circumstances of each organisation, so we don't know from our calcu lations if the company is in trouble, 

but a low quick ratio would g ive a signal to look further into the situation. 

Quick ratio= (Current assets -Inventory}+ Current liabilities 

4 Should the owners declare themselves a d ividend? If so, how large shou ld it be? Legally, the board of 

directors (who manage the company on behalf of the shareholders) are able to declare a dividend to 

shareholders of $175 000, the fu ll amount of the retained earnings. But there is not nearly enough cash 

for that. Those past earn ings have been reinvested in inventory, land, equipment and so on, and are 

therefore not sitting around in cash waiting to be paid to owners. This is true of nearly al l compan ies: 

they invest past earnings in operating assets, so do not have a lot of cash on hand. Probably a d ividend 

of more than about $25 000, only one-seventh of the retained earn ings, wou ld cause Sound and Light 

some cash stra in. What would you t hink if the company had no land or equipment but $300 000 in cash 

instead? It wou ld appear to be cash-rich in that case, and shou ld either invest the cash productively or 

pay a d ividend to the owners so they can do what they like w ith the money. 

5 Equipment (net) of $150 000 is represented by the cost of the equipment $272 000 less accumulated 

depreciation of $122 000. In calculating its profit, Sound and Light has deducted depreciation on its 

equipment as an expense each year. The profit that is in the reta ined profits part of the equity is, 

therefore, smaller than it wou ld have been without this deduction. The accumulated amount of that 

expense, built up over the years, is deducted from the assets in the ba lance sheet to show how much of 

the economic va lue of the assets is estimated to have been used up so far. Accumulated depreciation 

is therefore a 'negative asset' used to reduce the amounts of other assets. In th is case, the equipment 
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cost $272 000, against which depreciation of $122 000 has accumulated, so the 'net' book value of 
the equipment is the remainder: $150 000. (It is normal for the balance sheet to report only the net 

amount and give cost and accumulated depreciation amounts in the notes.) Comparing the cost and 
the accumulated depreciation tells us something about the age of the equipment. The $122 000 
accumulated depreciation is less than half the equipment's cost, so the company estimates that less than 

half the economic value of the equipment has been used. What would you think if the accumulated 

depredation were $250 000? The equipment would be nearing the end of its estimated life. 

Common presentation styles for balance sheets 
So you see that the balance sheet provides interesting information if you know how to read it. Your skill in 

reading it will grow as you work with it. There are d ifferent styles of presentation for the balance sheet; all 

show the same information, but they are arranged d ifferently. Exhibit 2.1 showed you the side-by-side 
format for Sound and Light Ltd. In Exhibit 2.2, the vertical fonnat is shown, which has be-come far more 

common. I t shows assets less liabilities equals shareholders' equity. 

iijiil:hiij SOUND AND LIGHT LTD 

BAlANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2019 

Currt nt asstts 

Cash 

Ac<Ounts receivable 

lnvento.y 

Total current asst ts 

Noncurrent asseu 

Land 

Eq.upment {net) 

Total nonwnent a.sseu 

Total assets 

Currt nt llabUitMs 

Ac<Ounts payable 

SOOrt ·tl!fm ban 

Total anrtnt llabllltlt:S 

Noncurrent liabilities 

Loan 

Total nonwnent liabilities 

Total Llabllftlts 

Net asstts 

Shareholdtrs' t qulty 

Sl\are <:apttal 

Reta.ned profits 

Totaltqulty 

so 
75 

.!ll 
ill 

100 

.)j2 

.ill. 
495 

73 

.12 
ill 

.£. 

.£. 

.!22 
1Qi 

130 

ill 
1Qi 
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2.4 A closer look at the balance sheet 
ll(el:) To gain further insights into the content of a ba lance sheet, we wi ll examine the content of Chez Ltd's 

balance sheet, shown in Exhibit 2.3. 

EXHIBIT 2.3 CHEZ LTD 

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MAY 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 8 952 6 336 

Investments 18 516 5 179 

Accounts receivable 26 396 18 069 

Inventory 22 831 20 427 

Prepayments 3 586 2 015 

Total current assets 80 281 52 026 

Noncurrent assets 

Land 23 205 23 205 

Buildings (net) 26 282 25 911 

Equipment (net) 35 120 36 630 

Furniture (net) 4 864 4 140 

Intangibles (net) 2 398 3 586 

Total noncurrent assets 91 869 93 472 

Total assets 172 150 145 498 

Current liabilities 

Accounts payable 7 984 6 443 

Accrued expenses 5 740 3 491 

Income taxes payable 3 248 2 756 

Provision for employee entitlements 10 823 4 481 

Total current liabilities 27 795 17 171 

Noncurrent liabilities 

Long-term loans 23 856 21 805 

Provision for employee entitlements 14 006 13 647 

Total noncurrent liabilities 37 862 35 452 

Total liabilities 65 657 52 623 

Net assets 106 493 92 875 

Shareholders' equity 

Share capital 23 961 23 961 

Reta ined profits 82 532 68 914 

Total shareholders' equity 106 493 92 875 

• It is comparative: it contains figures both for the most recent year and for the preceding year to help the 

users recogn ise changes. It is standard practice for the more recent figures to be to the left, closer to the 

words describing those figures. 
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• For clarity, the f igures are shown in thousands of dollars (and for bigger compan ies it w ill be 'mi llions of 

dollars'), not exact amounts to the cent. 

• References are normally made to various notes. It is not possible to explain every important item on the 

face of the balance sheet, so extensive explanatory notes are referred to and appended to most balance 

sheets. Chez's notes are not provided here because they raise issues we have not yet covered. 

Remember to look for notes when you are using financial statements. 

• The company has many different kinds of asset, liability and equity accounts. They are not necessarily 

easy to classify into the categories you saw in the Sound and Light Ltd example. You probably won't 

understand all the accounts and how the company has categorised them; that understanding will 

develop as you work through the book. 

• The balance date is 31 May, not 30 June. The end of the taxation year, 30 June, is the most popular 

accounting year-end (financial year-end), but many companies choose other dates, particu larly 

subsidiaries of US companies, among whom 31 December is popular. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

2E Given the fol lowing information for Northern Ltd: 
• share capital $1000 
• accounts receivab le $1100 
• accounts payable $2100 
• inventory $1700 
• retained profits $2200 
• cash $500 
• equipment $2000 

(i) Calculate the totals for current assets, noncurrent assets, total assets, cu rrent liabil ities, noncurrent liabilities 
and shareholders' equity. 

(ii) Comment on the company's financial position at that point in time. 

Some explanation of the detailed content of balance sheets wil l be helpful now, before some examples of 

preparing balance sheets are g iven. 

Some of Chez's assets were described in Chapter 1: cash, accounts receivable and inventory. Property, 

plant and equipment is spl it into land, buildings, equipment and furniture. Many Austra lian compan ies show 

property, plant and equipment as one item on the face of the balance sheet (e.g. property, p lant and 

equipment net = $100 000), w ith the split-up in one of the notes to the accounts (e.g. property, p lant and 

equipment- accumulated depreciation: $400 000- $300 000 = $100 000). 

Note that land is not depreciated, but build ings, equipment, and furniture are shown net, meaning that 

accumulated depreciation has been deducted. The exact amount of the accumulated depreciation deducted 

w ill be shown in the notes. For example, if equipment cost $1 m illion and had an expected life of five years, 

the amount of depreciation each year would be $200 000. After three years, accumulated depreciation would 

be $600 000 ($200 000 + $200 000 + $200 000). 

Chez Ltd also has some other assets that were not introduced in Chapter 1, including investments, 

prepayments, property, plant and equipment (net), and intangibles. 

• Investments are short-term; that is, included under current assets - and could be shares in other 

companies (such as the Commonwealth Bank or Woolworths), which Chez intends to convert to cash 

within a year. 
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• Prepayments (or p repaid expenses) are amounts that have been paid in advance but for which the 

benefits have not yet been received. For example, if we pay a 12-mooth insurance p remium on 1 April 
2018, at 31 May 2018 we will have a prepayment equal to 10/12ths of the amount paid at year end. 
Prepayments are assets because they represent future e-conomic benefits. 

• The p<operty, plant and equipment (PPE) will be recorded at cost net of accumulated depreciation. Each 
year depceciation expense is calculated and the sum of these depredation expenses is called 

accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense and accumulated depredation are discussed in more 
detail in Chapter 5. When you see the word 'net' after PPE it means accumulated depredation has been 

deducted from cost. 

• Intang ible assets are noncurrent assets that have no physical substance, such as copyrights, patents, 

trademarks, brand names and goodwill. They are discussed in Chapter 10. 

Chez Ltd includes many liabilities that have not yet been d iscussed. Accounts payable and long ... term 

loans were described in Chapter 1. Two o thers are accrued expenses and provision for employee 

entitlements. 

• Accrued expenses relate to expenses that have been incurred during the year but not yet paid . Consider 

two examples. Assume Chez Ltd pays salaries and wages every two weeks for work done in the previous 

two weeks. I f the last pay day was 19 May, the company would owe employees salaries and wages from 

20 May to 31 May. This is called accrued wages or wages payable . Another example of accrued 
expenses could be the amount owing to the electricity company. If it bills you quarterly and the last bill 

was for the period end ing 30 April, you would awe the company for one month's electricity at the end of 

the accounting period. This would also form part of accrued expenses. Income taxes payable is the 

amount payable to the tax office in the next year. 

• Provision for employee entitlements relates to long service leave, holiday pay and some superannuation. 

It is an estimate, based on years of employee service, of the amounts owing to employees that will have 

to be paid in future periods. The p rovision for employee entitlements has both current and noncurrent 

proportions, depending on when the amounts are likely to be paid . 

Note that for accounts payable the company will have re-ceived an invoice showing the amount owing. 

Accruals need to be estimated but often this can be done reasonably accurately. However, when the 

estimation p rocess is more d ifficult. the tenn 'provisions' is common. 

Where do the figures come from? 
A full understanding of what assets and liabilities are and how to measure them will take time and many 

examples. One thing you may be wondering about is where the figures used to measure these things come 

from. This is a deep and controversial question indeed. Only a superficial answer can be g iven naw, but 

after a few more chapters you will have a deeper understanding of it. 
Accounting is generally a historical measurement system: it records what has happened, not what will 

happen or would have happened if conditions had been different. Therefore, asset and liability values are 

derived from the past. Assets are generally valued at what they cost when they were acquired, and liabilities 

are generally valued at what was promised when the obligation arose. In most countries, assets and liabilities 

are not valued at the current prices they might fetch if sold right now. This is something that confuses many 

users: looking at a balance sheet, for example, a user might think that assets such as land and buildings are 

shown at what those assets would be worth right now if they were sold. They are, instead, generally valued 

at 'Nf'lat they cost when they were acquired. 

The differences in these values can be large. For example, a company may have bought land in Sydney 

20 years ago for $300 000. The land may now be worth many millions of dollars. But the balance sheet 
nonnally will show the land asset at a figure of $300 000, its original cost. This is because the only thing that 
has happened is that the land was acquired 20 years ago, and the cost incurred then can be verified. Nothing 

further has happened: the land has not been sold, so its current value is hypothetical and difficult to verify. 

However, in Australia certain assets can be revalued in the balance sheet to current matket prices. They are 
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shown at e ither independent valuation or directors' valuation . Th is important valuation issue is discussed in 

more detai l in Chapter 10. Also, around the world there is a trend towards valuing many assets, including 

investments, at their 'fa ir values' rather than historical cost. This wi ll be discussed in Chapter 10. 

The balance sheets of most Australian companies actually show a little less detail than our Chez Ltd 

example. For example, under liabilities it is quite normal to have a heading 'payables', which includes 

accounts payable and accrued expenses. The split-up of these amounts is then given in the notes to the 

accounts. Also as noted earlier, Land, Buildings, Equipment and Furn iture are likely to be included under 

one heading 'Property, Plant and Equipment'. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

2F Account balances fo r Mike's Tyre Repai r (company) are: long-term loan, $250; accounts receivable, $640; inventory 
of suppl ies, $21 0; equipment cost, $890; accumu lated depreciation on equipment, $470; accounts payable, $360; 
share capita l, $660. Ca lculate total assets, tota l liabi lities and shareholders' equity. 

2.5 Maintaining the accounting equation 
In sections 2.1 and 2.2 the accounting equation was introduced: 

Assets = Liabilities+ Shareholders' equity 

An understanding of this equation is fundamental to your understanding of the balance sheet and the 

whole accounting record ing process. Financial accounting is sa id to use the double-entry system, whereby 

the accounting equation is always kept in balance. If an asset goes up, a liability or equity must go up too 

(or another asset must go down). If a liability goes up, an asset must go up too, or an equity or another 

liability must go down. Here are some examples, using the balance sheet descriptions in the Sound and 

Light example in section 2.1 and the equation A 1 = L1 + E1 to represent the balance sheet before the events: 

• cash of $100 obtained from an owner for shares: 'cash' asset up, 'share capital issued' equity up, so A1 + 
$100 = L1 + E1 + $100 

• $120 collected from a customer: 'cash' asset up, 'accounts receivable' asset down, so A 1 + $100 + $120-

$120 = L1 + E1 + $100 

• goods for sale costing $130 received from a suppl ier: 'inventory' asset up, 'accounts payable' liability up, 

so A 1 + $100 + $120-$120 + $130 = L1 + $130 + E1 + $100. 

After these three events, the new balance sheet is $230 higher on both sides and so stil l in balance: 

A1 + $230(net) = L1 + $130 + E1 + $100 

The key point is that the equation wi ll always be in balance. The equation would ba lance before 

recording these transactions and wil l balance after the transactions have been recorded . 

We cover transaction analysis in more detail in Chapter 3, including expanding the equation to 

incorporate revenue and expenses. So at this point we wi ll just consider transactions that only have an 

impact on the ba lance sheet. 

Assume that, at 30 June 2019, FGH Ltd had cash of $200 000 and share capital of $200 000. Note that 

the accounting equation balances at this point. In fact, the equation wil l balance after we record every 

transaction. Consider the impact of each of the following transactions: 

1 The company receives $400 000 from the issue of shares (200 000 shares at $2 each). This transaction 

increases an asset (cash at bank) and increases shareholders' equity account (share capital). 

2 The company purchases new equipment for $500 000, paying cash to the supplier. This transaction 

increases one asset (equipment) and decreases another asset (cash). 
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3 The company borrows $200 000 from the bank. Th is transaction increases an asset (cash at bank) and 

increases a liability (loan). 

4 The company purchases inventory on credit for $150 000. This transaction mcreases a liability (accounts 

payable) and increases an asset (inventory). 

5 The company pays $50 000 to accounts payable. This transaction decreases an asset (cash) and a liabi lity 

(accounts payable). 

Each of the above transactions is recorded 1n Exhibit 2.4 and the new ba lance sheet at 31 July 2019 

appears in Exhibit 2.5. 

EXHIBIT 2.4 

Bal. +200 000 

1 +400 000 

2 -soo 000 

3 +200 000 

4 

s -so ooo 
+2SO 000 

EXHIBIT 2.5 

Assets 

Current assets 

Cash 

Inventory 

Noncurrent assets 

Equ ipment at cost 

Total assets 

+1SO 000 

+1SO 000 

FGH LTD 

ACCOUNTING EQUATION 

+SOO 000 

+SOO 000 

900 000 -

FGH LTD 

+200 000 

+ 1SO 000 

-so ooo 
+100 000 +200 000 

900 000 

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 JULY 2019 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities 

2SO 000 Accounts payable 

1SO 000 

400 000 Noncurrent liabilities 

Long-term loans 

Total liabilities 

soo 000 Shareholders' equity 

Share capital 

Retained profits 

Total shareholders' equity 

900 000 Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 

+200 000 

+400 000 

+600 000 

100 000 

200 000 

300 000 

600 000 

0 

600 000 

900 000 
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HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

2G (i) What is the effect of each of the following transactions on total assets' 
(a) Purchased equipment for $200 000 cash. 
(b) Purchased inventory for $30 000 on credit 
(c) Received a loan of $50 000 from the bank. 
(d) Received $20 000 from accounts receivable. 
(e) Issued additional shares of $300 000. 

(ii) Which of the above transactions increase total liabilities' 

2.6 Managers and the balance sheet 
Why do managers care about their companies' balance sheets? The basic reason is that many outsiders do, l!ei(t] 
including owners, creditors, tax authorities and unions. Read any issue of a business newspaper or magazine 

and you will see frequent references to the importance of the balance sheet and levels of debt. For 

example: 

Rob Ltd was an attractive prospect because it had a strong balance sheet. 
The balance sheet shom a weak financial structure. Management must solve this problem 
before risk.shy investors can be expected to take an interest in the company. 
The balance sheet shows the large cash reserves, so one can only guess that management is 

looking to buy another company. 
X Ltd's debt.to-equity ratio is high for the industry. 

The underlying strength of PB's balance sheet is hard to ignore. 
W Ltd has grown because it has a very conservative balance sheet that provides opportunities. 

The balance sheet reports what the organisation's position (assets, liabilities and shareholders' equity) is at 

a point in time (the financial year .end or any other date on which the balance sheet is prepared). It shows the 

assets (resources) that management has chosen to acquire for the o rganisation, and how management has 

de-cided to finance those assets. Therefore, it provides a useful p icture of the state of the company and is 
used by many outsiders to evaluate the quality of management's decisions on obtaining, deploying and 

financing assets. For bener or worse, it is the summary of all the information recognised by accounting and 

is, to many people, the basic score card of management's stewardship of the company. 

The balance sheet does not directly state how management has performed in using assets to eam profit. 
Such information is contained in the income statement, but all of it correlates with the basic doubfe.entry 

information contained in the balance sheet. Good profit performance, for example, is reflected in increased 

assets and shareholders' equity (retained profits). The strengths and weaknesses of the balance sheet, which 

will be explored throughout this book, are therefore fundamentally important to managers, who are 

responsible for managing companies' assets and liab ilities. 

Managers' own salaries, promotions. careers and reputations depend on other people's decisions (such as 

investors' decisions to buy and sell shares) which, in tum, rest to some extent on balance sheet information. 

2.7 The income statement 
A business exjsts over a period of time. If the owners and managers are successful, it may p rosper for a long ~ 

time. Suppose a measure of the company's financial performance is desired for comparison with other (!!Zl 
companies. for assessing income tax, for help in deciding how much to sell the company for, or for many 
other reasons we will come to. How could such performance be measured? 
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We might measure the company's financial performance by closing it down, selling off all its assets, 

paying off all its liabil ities and discovering how much is left for the owners. Good performance would be 

indicated if the money left for the owners plus the amounts they withdrew over the years were greater than 

the amount they put in when they founded the company, perhaps adjusted for inflation over that time and 

for the owners' costs in raising the money they put in. 

But kill ing the business to measure how well it has been doing is a little drastic! Waiting unti l it dies 

of natural causes hardly seems any better: many companies have outlasted generations of owners and 

managers. It wou ld be more useful to measure performance over selected shorter periods of time: annually, 

every three months (quarterly) or on a monthly basis. People could then make their decisions about investing 

in the company or sell ing their shares, and hiring managers or firing them, when they wanted to do so. 

This is where the income statement becomes useful. Th is statement uses accrual accounting to measure 

f inancial performance over a period of time, usually a year, six months, three months or one month, 

indicating t he net profit for t he period, calcu lated as revenues minus expenses. 

Net profit for the period = Revenues - Expenses for the period 

Revenues and expenses 
Recall t hat in section 1.5 the concepts of revenues and expenses were introduced. As part of the conceptua l 

framework of accounting, official pronouncements developed definitions of revenues and expenses. They 

were developed to be applicable to a range of measurement models and to include some transactions 

unique to t he publ ic sector. Consequently, the definitions are difficu lt to follow, especially for students in 

their second week of an accounting course. As a resu lt, we will defer discussion of t hese definitions unti l 

Chapter 13. Below are some fundamental definitions that cover most revenues and expenses. 

REVENUES 

Revenues are described here as increases in t he company's wealth arising from the provision of services or 

the sale of goods to customers. Wealth increases because customers: 

• pay cash for goods or services 

• promise to pay cash (such promises are cal led 'accounts receivable' for goods and services) 

• (more rarely) pay w ith other forms of wealth, such as by providing other assets to the company or 

forgiving debts owed by the company for goods and services. 

If, in return for services or goods, a customer paid $1000 in cash, another customer promised to pay 

$1000 later, another gave t he company $1000 in equipment, or another forgave a $1000 debt the company 

had owed the customer, each would be ca lled a revenue of $1000. 

Interest and dividends received are also examples of revenue because they are increases in wealth as a 

result of provid ing a service (lend ing or investing money in another organisation). 

The key test for revenue recogn ition is whether the goods or services have been rendered (e.g. delivery 

to customers or the provision of a service). Revenue recognition can become q uite complicated for some 

companies. For example, if a company received a contract to build a new highway from Brisbane to 

Melbourne, when would revenue be recognised? This and other more complicated questions concerning 

revenue recognition wi ll be addressed in Chapter 13. 

EXPENSES 

Expenses are the opposite of revenues. They are decreases in the company's wealth that are incurred in 

order to earn revenue. Wealth decreases because operating costs have to be paid; customers have to be 

given t he goods they have paid for; long-term assets wear out as they are used to earn revenue; and 

liabil ities may be incurred as part of the process. 

If, as part of its attempt to earn revenues, the company pa id $600 in rent, or t he goods bought by a 

customer cost the company $800 to provide, the equipment depreciated by $400, or the company promised 
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to pay an employee $500 in wages later on for work already completed, each of these would be cal led an 

expense (rent expense $600, cost of goods sold $800, depreciation $400, wages expense $500). 

A major expense category that sometimes causes confusion is the cost of goods sold (COGS) expense. In 

the examples above, if the goods bought by the customer cost the company $800 to provide, $800 is the 

cost of the goods sold that earned revenue of $1000. The revenue is what the customer agrees to pay; the 

cost of goods sold is what it costs the company to provide those goods. Therefore, a transaction with a 

customer who is buying goods has two aspects: 

• the company is better off because of the revenue gained 

• the company is worse off because of the cost of the goods that the customer takes away. 

When the company buys the goods for sale, they begin on the balance sheet in the asset account 

'inventory of unsold goods'. When they are sold, their cost is transferred from the asset account to the 

expense account 'cost of goods sold'. This is done as a separate accounting activity from record ing the 

revenue, because it is a separate economic event. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

2H During the year a retailer buys 800 televisions at $400 each and sel ls 600 of them fo r $1000 each. Calculate the 
fol lowing: 
(i) Sales revenue for the year 
(ii) Cost of goods sold for the year 
(iii) The closing balance of inventory in the balance sheet related to the televisions. 

PROFIT 

Both revenues and expenses are measured by following the concepts of accrual accounting; therefore, they 

represent increases or decreases in wealth, whether or not cash receipts or payments occur at the same 

t ime. As net profit is the d ifference between revenues and expenses, it represents the net inflow of wealth to 

the company during the period. The reporting of net profit means that the company has become wealthier 

during the period. If net profit is negative - that is, if revenues are less than expenses - it is instead cal led 

net loss, and represents a net outflow of wealth. In this case, the company has become less wealthy. 

Expenses include all the costs of earning the revenues, including income and other taxes, but they do not 

include payment of returns to owners (withdrawals by sole traders or partners, or dividends to shareholders of 

compan ies). Payments, or promises of payment, of returns to owners (such as when a company's board of 

directors declares- or promises - a d ividend) are considered to be distributions of net profit to owners. The 

undistributed remainder is kept in the company as retained profits. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

21 Calculate the tota l revenue and expenses for the month of June 2019, given the fol lowing: 
(i) Credit sa les of $200 000 made in June; 50 per cent to be col lected in June. 
(ii) Cash sales of $300 000. 
(iii) Received $20 000 as a deposit from a customer in June for a job to be carried out in July. 
(iv) Paid sa laries of $40 000; $10 000 related to work carried out in May and $30 000 related to June work. 
(v) Paid rent for the month of June of $6000 on 7 June. 
(vi) Received a bill for $1500 from an electrician fo r work done on 20 June. This will be paid next month. 
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The relationship of profit for the period to retained profits 
Retained profits is the sum of past net profits, measured since the company began, minus dividends declared 

(even if not yet paid) to owners since the beginning. Retained profits from the end of the preceding period (year, 

quarter, month or whatever) are therefore increased by profits for the period and reduced by any d ividends. 

Retau-.ed profrts at end of penod • Retained pr6flts a1 beginnrng of per.od 

..- Net prOfit (or - Net loss) foe the period 

- Oi'l'dends dedared during the pellod 

An alternative format to show the change in retained profits is: 

Start wrlh retained pr6flts, beginnu-,g 61 period (elld of preoous period) 

Add net pr6flt 16r the peraod 

Oedut'l di'l'dends dKiared during the per.od 

Equals retarrned profits. elld of peraod 

XXXI( 

XXXI( 

~ 
XXXI( 

In the above example, the company earned a pro fit. If the company performed badly, the profit could be 
negative (expenses greater than revenues, p roducing a net loss instead), and in that case, the net loss is 

deducted from the beginning retained profits. If things get really bad, retained p rofits can also be negative 
(losses having overtaken profits). 

You might be interested to know that you can, if you have the past records, go back year by year, figuring 

out how much profit was added to retained profits each year and how much in dividends was deducted. You 
could go all the way back to the first day of the company, when there had not yet been any profit and, 

therefore, not yet any retained profits. The balance sheet can be said to reflect everything that has ever 

been recorded in the accounts: it is the accumulation of everything that has happened from when the 

company began until now. 
In a company, the board of directors is the senior level of authority, which looks after the company on 

behalf of the owners. When the board declares a dividend, the amount is deducted from retained profits at 

that time. At that point. the company has a liability to the owners. which it pays off later by sending the 

owners the p romised cash. This involves two principles of financial accounting: 

1 Transactions with owners. of which the main example is d ividends. are taken out of retained p rofits. They 

are not an expense, and therefore are not deducted in calculating p rofit for the period. 

2 Owners can be cred itors too. if they are owed dividends o r have lent the company money in addition to 

the shares they bought. 

HOW' S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

2J The following transactions occurred during 2019: 
(a) Issued shares to investors for $100 000 cash 
(b) Borrowed $61 000 from the bank 
(c) Purchased equipment for $17 000 cash 
(d) Purchased $723 000 of additional inventory on credit 
(e) Sold $1 141 900 of products to customers on credit; cost of the goods was $700 000 
(f) Incurred $218 200 in selling expenses, paying 80 per cent in cash and owing the rest 
(g) Paid cash dividends of $16 000 
(h) Earned $4000 interest on investments, receiving 75 per cent in cash 0 
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0 (i) Incurred $2900 in interest expense to be paid at the beginning of next year 
(i) What was revenue for the year? 
(ii) What are expenses for the year? 
(iii) What is the net profit? 

(iv) If the opening balance of retained profits was $1 mil lion, what is the closing balance? 

2.8 Connecting balance sheets and 
statements 

• 

1ncome 

The balance sheet shows all assets, liabilities and shareholders' equity accounts at a point in t ime. Usually the 111(•1-l 
ba lance sheet is comparative, showing the accounts at both the beginn ing of the income statement's period 

(i.e. the end of the previous period) and at the end of the income statement's period, and therefore showing 

both the beginning retained profits and the ending retained profits. 

Assets at beginning 

Assets at end 

Change in assets 

Liabi lities + equity (including retained profits) at beginning 

Liabi lities + equity (including retained profits) at end 

Change in liabilities + change in equity (including retained profits) 

Suppose a corporation had assets of $1200 at the beginning of a year and $1450 at the end, and 

liabilities of $750 at the beginning and $900 at the end. We can deduce that its equity was $450 at the 

beginn ing and $550 at the end (i.e. Assets - Liabilities = Equity). These data produce the following 

ca lculation of the changes in the balance sheet categories: 

Beginning: 

Ending: 

Changes: 

Assets Liabilities Equity 

$1200 

$1450 

$ 250 

$750 

$900 

$150 

+ 

+ 

+ 

$450 

$550 

$100 

Where did the change in equity come from? Upon investigation, we find out that the company issued 

more share capital of $40, earned profit of $185 and declared a d ividend of $125. Thus: 

Share capital change: 

Equity increase due to issued share capital 

Retained profits change: 

Equity increase due to profit 

Equity decrease due to declaration of dividend 

Change in equity between the two balance sheets 

185 

( 125) 

40 

60 

100 

We know what the profit was, but not what the company did to earn it. Th is is what the profit and loss 

component of the income statement is for: describing the revenues and expenses that produced the $185 

profit. But once we have that, it is useful to know how that factors in to the balance sheet. The net profit is 

part of the change in retained profits, which in turn is part of the change in the balance sheet over that 

period. The statement (or note) showing changes in retained profits therefore 'knits' the balance sheet and 

the income statement together by showing that the net profit is part of the change in the balance sheet over 

the period. (Accountants refer to this knitting together as the articu lation of the two statements.) Profit is part 

of the change in retained profits for the period, therefore: 

Profit is part of the equity component of the accounting equation 
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Make sure you understand how t his works: 

• A revenue increases wealth, so it either increases assets or decreases liabilities, and t herefore increases 

equity. 

• An expense decreases wealth, so it e it her decreases assets o r increases liabilit ies, and therefore decreases 

equity. 

• Posit ive net profit has the overall effect of increasing assets and/or decreasing liabil ities, and therefore 

increases equity (increases due to revenues exceed decreases due to expenses). 

• A net loss, which is negative net profit, does the opposite, decreasing equity (decreases due to expenses 

exceed increases due to revenues). 

At this stage make sure you grasp the idea that profit is part of equity t hrough retained profits. Note that 

1n Chapter 13 you wi ll see that t he fu ll income statement includes other equity changes t hat articu late 

t hrough to the balance sheet . 

FOR YOUR INTEREST 

People sometimes think that the whole balance of retained profits is available to pay dividends. Legal ly that may be true, 
but practically it is very unlikely to be true, because profit comes from changes in all the fo rms of wea lth on the ba lance 
sheet. 

A company that has made good profits and used the money earned to invest in new plant and equipment, 
for example, would have to sel l the plant and equipment if it were to pay out all the retained profits as dividends. 
Also, since profit is based on accrual accounting, it is represented by changes in non-cash accounts such as accounts 
receivable (unco llected revenues) and accounts payable (unpaid expenses}, so the profit in retained profits is not all 
cash, and the company might have to clear up al l its receivables and payables to get the cash to pay a big 
dividend. The owners may not even want a dividend: many companies that pay smal l or no dividends have excellent 
share prices on the stock market, because shareholders believe that the companies will grow and prosper if the 
money that could have been paid as dividends is instead kept inside the company and used to make profitable 

business investments. 

An example of articulation between the balance sheet 
and the income statement 
Bratwurst Ltd had the following balance sheet at t he end of 2018 (beginning of 2019): assets $5000, liabi lities 

$3000 and equity $2000. 

• The beginning equity f igure was made up of the shareholders' invested share capital of $500 plus 

reta ined profit accumulated to the end of 2018 of $1500. (That $1500 was t herefore the sum of al l the 

net profits t he company had ever had up to the end of 2018 minus all t he dividends ever declared to 

owners up to that point.) 

• During 2019, the company had revenues of $1 1 000 and expenses of $10 000, and declared dividends to 

owners of $300. 

• At t he end of 2019, t he company had assets of $5900, liabilities of $3200 and equity of $2700, made up 

of the shareholders' invested share capital of $500 plus retained profits of $2200. 

Exhibit 2.6 shows the relationship. 
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'i31il:hfl.j 

~!'lues 

Expenses (itldud•ng income tax) 

Net profit f01 2019 

BRATWURST lTD 

INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2019 

NOTE SHOWING CHANGE IN RETAINED PROFITS FOR 2019 

Retained p•ofits beginning ol 2019 (et~d ol 2018) 

Add r.et p1olrt for 2019 (from income statemetlt) 

Oeduct dividetlds declared during 2019 

Retained p•ofits end of 2019 

BAlANCE SHEET AT THE BEGINNING AND END OF 2019 

Asstru Liabilities and ~qulty 

11 000 

.!.2.2.Q2 

....!12Q. 

1 500 

~ 
2 500 

...lQ.!! 

ill2 

End B~ln End Bi!'gln 
s s s s 

A<1eiS 5 900 5 000 liab1lrtJes 3 200 3 000 

Shartholden' equity 

Share capital 500 500 

Retained prolrts ?.1QQ. .!.iQ2 
To,.l ~ ill Total ~ ~ 

You can see several things from this example : 

• We have used the tenn 'retained profits' instead of 'retained eamings'. Both are used in Australia, but the 

fonner is more common. In the United States and Canada, 'retained earnings' is much more common. 

• The income statement's bottom line is transferred to the statement of retained profits, which is often 

shown as a note to the balance sheet. 

• The retained profits note's bottom line is transferred to the balance sheet. showing that the statements tie 
together (articulate) through retained profits. 

In addition, asset and/or liability accounts in the balance sheet also have to change to reflect the wealth 

changes that revenues and expenses involve. These changes keep the balance sheet in balance with the 

change in retained profits. This is true for all companies, not just simple ones like Bratwurst Ltd. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

2K Suppose Bratwurst Ltd's accounting records showed the following for the next year, 2020: revenues earned 
S 14 200, cash collected from customers $13 800, expenses incurred $12 900, dividends declared $600. 
(Remember, retained profits equalled $2200 at the end of 2019.) What was Bratwurst's net profit for 2020 and its 

retained profits as at the end of 2020' 
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2.9 A closer look at the income statement 
ll(el:) Social and economic forces have helped to produce an income statement that is more complex than the 

simple Bratwurst Ltd example you saw earlier. See Exhibit 2.7 for Tabcorp Ho ldings' Income statement. 

EXHIBIT 2.7 TABCORP HOLDINGS LIMITED 

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

Revenue 

Other income 

Commissions and fees 

Government taxes and levies 

Employment costs 

Depreciation and amortisation 

Impairment 

Communications and technology costs 

Advertising and promotions 

Property costs 

Other expenses 

Profit before income tax expense and net finance costs 

Finance income 

Finance costs 

Profit before income tax expense 

Income tax expense 

Net profitl(loss) after tax 

2 234.1 

(24.1) 

(921.4) 

(314.1) 

(224.0) 

(183.3) 

(27.5) 

(86.3) 

(73.3) 

(54.7) 

(223.8) 

101.6 

1.6 

(78.3) 

24.9 

(45.7) 

(20.8) 

2 188.7 

4.4 

(869.2) 

(335.0) 

(187.6) 

(178.6) 

(77.9) 

(64.0) 

( 43.1) 

( 136.7) 

301.0 

2.9 

(72.8) 

231.1 

(61.4) 

169.7 

Tabcorp Holdings Limited, Annual Report 2017. 

Among the things you may notice as you review the two statements are: 

• The income statement covers a period of time (years ending 30 June in this case), not a point in time, as 

the balance sheet does. It also is shown in millions of dol lars. 

• As you already saw with the ba lance sheets, extensive explanatory notes are normally referred to on the 

income statement and appended to them. The notes are not attached here. The content of such notes is 

important, however, so some comments are made about that below, and further attention wi ll be pa id to 

it in later chapters. 

• At the top of the statement, the total revenue for the year is disclosed as $2234.1 million. 

• 

• 

60 

Expenses (includ ing employment costs of $224.0 mi llion and commissions/fees of $921.4 million) are then 

deducted to get operating profit before income tax. 

Income tax is levied on a company's profit because it is legally separate from its owners. Such tax is 

usually a percentage of profit before income tax (though there are many complications). Income tax 

expense of $45.7 million is deducted to get net profit/(loss) after tax. In 2016 there was a net profit of 

$169.7 mil lion but in 2017 a loss of $20.8 mill ion. 
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• Note that the government taxes and levies ($314.1 mi llion) are not income tax. There are separate taxes 

related to the gaming industry. 

• In 2017 there is an impairment of $27.5 million. This is where compan ies need to reduce the va lue of 

some of their assets below cost and is explained in Chapter 1 0. 

HOW'S YOUR UNDERSTANDING? 

2L If the opening balance of retained profits is $850 000, net profit before tax $150 000, net profit after tax $120 000, 
and $70 000 of dividends were declared, what is the closing balance of retained profits? 

FOR YOUR INTEREST 

Both in Austral ia and internationally the label fo r the statement that provides the profit figure has changed often over 
recent decades; examples include profit and loss statement, statement of financial performance and income statement. 
You shou ld be aware of these name changes as some companies may retain the older names for internal documents 
because of managers' fami liarity with them. For example, the use of the term 'profit and loss statement' is sti ll common 
. . 
m many compan1es. 

2.1 0 Capital markets, managers 
and performance evaluation 
The profit figure, as disclosed in the income statement, has major impacts on managers' salaries, promotions, I (ell(t] 
careers and reputations- especial ly where capita l markets such as stock markets are concerned. Managers of 

large, publicly traded compan ies are under constant pressure because of the spotlight on profits and its 

components. Business and social observers often comment that this spotlight is too intense; that there is 

more to managerial performance than the profit figure. 

An indication of the importance p laced on the 'bottom line' can be found in almost any issue of 

a financial newspaper, such as The Australian or the Australian Financial Review, in their regu lar 

announcements of companies' annual and/or half-yearly profits. These announcements presumably are 

meant to focus on the crucial bits of information. The emphasis is on profit. There is limited data about non

financia l performance, longer-term issues or other aspects of managers' efforts. This is not to say that these 

other factors are not considered at some point, but when announcements tend to stress profits, other things 

can be overlooked. 

The announcements show sales, profits before tax (pre-tax), net profit after tax (net), earnings per share 

(EPS), interim and final d iv idends per share (which includes the date of payment; 'ff' signifies the dividend is 

fully franked, meaning that tax has already been pa id on the profits by the company; 'p' means it is partly 

franked) and the present share price, wh ich includes the change from the previous day (shares last). 

Some figures are converted to per-share data (roughly, these are the profit figure divided by the number 

of ordinary shares issued by the company). Per-share amounts are thought to be helpful to the user who 

owns or is thinking of buying a particular number of shares and wonders what portion of the company's 

resu lts can be related to that number of shares. If you own n shares of X Limited, you can say that 

your shares earned $0.555 per share in the 2019 financial year, up from $0.481 per share in the previous 

financia l year. 
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Share price information is given for the current period. For example, it shOVV'S that the share p rice of 

X limited at the last sale the previous day was $5.36, which was down 4.2 cents on the previous day's closing 

price. 
When the financial statements are produced, and announcemen ts like Exhibit 2.8 are made from them, 

the statements will reflect the same things. Therefore, share prices will go up or down """en investors 
receive news about a company that changes the attractiveness of its shares. If this news comes out before 

the financial statements and the above announcements (which is usually the case, especially for well-known 

companies that are frequently in the news). then the share price will already have changed in the manner to 

be expected from the announcements. If an announcement (surprisingly good o r bad results) is not 

expected, then the share prices will change when the announcement is made, because the announcement is 

the news. In either case, share market prices and profit announcements tend to end up moving in the same 
direction, and therefore are correlated. 

i#:J:II:Iifj:l X LIMITED 

ANNOUNCEMENTS OF COMPANY PROFITS IN THE FINANCIAL PRESS 

Full ym 2019 2018 

Sm Sm 

SaiM 16721 1 571.3 

Pre-tax 537.9 491.7 

N« 605.6 529.3 

EPS 55.5< 48.1< 

final div. 1l<ft ll<ff 

Shares {last) ~5.36 -4.2< 

Managers of companies with traded shares are therefore keenly aware of accounting's profit 

measurement, because accounting is tracking factors that investors are concerned about. I f the investors do 

not leam about these factors from other sources, they will certainly learn about them from the accounting 

statements. 
The income statement is also important for managers of smaller companies or private companies. While 

their shares are not traded, managers and owner-managers of smaller companies are also concerned about 

management bonuses, income tax and other effects of profit figures. 

Managers of many companies - especially, but not only, larger corporations - go to great lengths to 
explain their performance to investors and to people on whom investors rely, such as share mad<et analysts 

and business journalists. Therefore, every manager should be conversant with how her o r his performance is 

measured in the income statement - because a lot of other people are! 
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PRACTICE PROBLEMS 

Solutions to practice problems can be found at the end of the chapter. These problems are intended to 

facilitate self-study and additiona l p ractice: don't look at the solution for any of these without giving the 
problem a serious try first, because once you have seen the solution it always looks easier than it is. 

PRACTICE PROBLEM A 
Calculate net profit 

Assume this is the first year of operations for the company. Using the following information calculate net profit 

before tax. 

Credit sales 

Cash sales 

Cash received from accounts receivable 

Cost of goods sold 

Cash purchases of inventory 

Operating expenses paid 

Operating expense incurred during the year but owing at year-end 

PRACTICE PROBLEM B 
Prepare a balance sheet appropriately classified 

300 000 

100 000 

160 000 

70 000 

90 000 

80 000 

30 000 

From the following information, prepare a balance sheet, appropriately classif ied, as at 30 June 2019 for 

PSM Limited. 

Share capital 

Cash 

Accounts payable 

Investments ($3 371 000 held for short·term investment) 

Retained profits 

Prepayments 

Accounts receivable 

Long·term borrowings 

Inventory 

Provisions for employee entitlements ($30 919 000 due within one year) 

Property, plant and equipment 

Other long-term assets 

Other receivables (due in more than one year) 

PRACTICE PROBLEM C 
Revenues and expenses 

The fol lowing transactions occurred during 2019. 

1 Issued shares to investors for cash. 

2 Provided services to customers, receiving part in cash and the rest on credit. 

3 Incurred advertising expense, paid in cash. 

4 Collected cash from accounts receivab le. 

5 Repa id a bank loan. 

$000 

108 518 

11 636 

43 091 

5 458 

28 546 

3 958 

47 515 

30 866 

66 479 

34 888 

67 760 

42 742 

361 
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6 Purchased equipment on credit. 

7 Bought inventory for cash . 

8 Sold goods on credit (COGS equals 60 per cent of sales). 

9 Paid wages expense for the period. 

10 Received a loan from the bank. 

11 Incurred maintenance expense, pa id cash . 

12 Declared and paid a cash dividend to investors. 

For each of the transactions, indicate the effect (+ for increase and - for decrease) of each transaction on 

revenues, expenses and net profit. Write NE if there is no effect. 

PRACTICE PROBLEM D 
Income statement and balance sheet 

Isabelle Limited started business on 1 September 2019. During the first month in business the fo llowing 

transactions occurred. 

a Issued share capital, $100 000. 

b Paid one month's rent of $2000. 

c Provided services to customers on cred it, $30 000; $1 1 000 of this amount had been received by the end 

of the month. 

d Paid wages of $7000. 

e Received a $1000 bill for cleaning services on the newly rented property. The bi ll will be pa id in October. 

Required: 

1 Prepare an income statement for the month of September 2019. 

2 Prepare a balance sheet at 30 September 2019. 

HOMEWORK AND DISCUSSION TO DEVELOP 
UNDERSTANDING 

This section starts with simpler d iscussion questions that revise some of the basic concepts, which are then 

followed by a set of problems. 

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS 

1 Define the following terms in your own words: 

a revenue 

b expense 

c net profit 

d dividend 

e reta ined p rofits 

f shareholders' equity. 

2 What is the difference between current and noncurrent assets? 

3 What is the difference between current and noncurrent liabilities? 

4 Do liabilities always involve future payments of cash? 

5 Suggest two ways retained profits may decrease. 

6 How can a ba lance sheet answer the following questions: 

a Is a company financial ly sound? 

64 

b Can a company pay its b ills on time? 

c Should the board of directors declare a dividend? 

d How old is the equipment? 
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7 Explain the main differences between the alternative methods of setting out a balance sheet: the side.. 

by-side style and the vertical style. 

8 List three liabilities that can be either current or noncurrent liabilities. What determines their categorisation? 

9 The CEO of a large Australian company announced at a recent shareholders' meeting: 'Our people are our 
greatest assets.' If this is the case, why are they not included in the balance sheet? 

10 Explain the following in non-technical language that a business person who has not read this text would 
understand: 

a Why is net profit part of shareholders' equity? 

b Why are dividends to shareholders not considered to be an expense in calculating net profit? Employee 
wages are considered to be an expense, as is the cost of products delivered to customers, and 

shareholders must be kept happy, as must employees and custometS. 

11 Why are inventory and accounts receivable normally current rather than noncurrent assets? When would 

they be noncurrent assets? 

12 Provide one example each of investments, intangibles, prepayments and accrued expenses. 

13 Provide an indicator of whether a company is financially sound. 

14 Provide an indicator of whether a company can pay its bills on time. 

15 Consider any company you are familiar with or interested in and make a list of all the people who might be 
interested in its balance sheet. Make your list using the following headings: 

Ptrson 
(dtdslon·m.akt r) 

Ust 
(dtdslon to be m.adt) 

Try to think about the 'use' issue broadly: your list could easily be a long one. You might make it even 
more broad by including people you think might like to use the balance sheet but whose needs are not 
served by it as you understand it, or who do not have timely access to it. 

16 'Financial reports are no longer timely today.' Discuss. 

17 Can a single balance sheet ever satisfy all the users of a company's financial statements, or should there be 
different balance sheets prepared to meet the differing needs of users? Write a paragraph giving your 
considered views. 

18 'You can have a perfectly accurate balance sheet SO years aher year-end.' Discuss. 

19 Explain why the difference between current and noncurrent liabilities is important to a company. 

20 Explain the difference between an accrued expense and a provision. 

PROBLEMS 

PROBLEM 2.1 
Classifying accounts on a balance sheet 

Below are some of the accounts of MM Ltd: 

1 Share capital 

2 Accounts payable 

3 Cash and cash equivalents 

4 Inventory 

5 Borrowings 

6 Provision for employee entitlements (current portion) 

7 Wages payable 

8 Equipment 

9 Prepayments 

10 Retained profits 

State whether each would be classified as an asset, a liability or shareholders' equity. 
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Financial accounting: an integrated approach 

PROBLEM 2.2 
Interpreting balance sheets 

1 'The company is in a position to utilise a strong balance sheet to make acqu isitions that should boost its 

earnings per share.' 

2 'The company has maintained a strong balance sheet and had ample capacity to expand its business.' 

Discuss the imp lications of each of these statements from the point of view of t he comments made on their 

balance sheets. 

PROBLEM 2.3 
Prepare a classified balance sheet 

Based on the following information, p repare an appropriately classified balance sheet as at 30 June 2019 for 

JKL Limited. 

$000 

Share capita l 45 092 

Cash 63 382 

Accounts payable 105 344 

Reta ined profits 39 346 

Accounts receivable 98 264 

Interest-bearing liabi lities (current) 192 370 

Inventories 110 234 

Provisions (current) 70 876 

Property, plant and equ ipment 181 148 

PROBLEM 2.4 
Prepare a classified balance sheet 

From the following information, prepare a ba lance sheet, appropriately classified, as at 30 June 2019 for 

Cobin Ltd . 

Share capita l 150 000 

Property, plant and equ ipment, at cost 550 000 

Accounts payable 61 000 

Accounts receivable 68 000 

Cash and cash equivalents 43 000 

Notes payable 30 000 

Prepayments 10 000 

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 200 000 

Long-term investments 110 000 

Provision for employee entitlements 34 000 
(noncurrent) 

Reta ined profits 184 000 

Income taxes payable 32 000 

Inventory 81 000 

Patents and trademarks 44 000 

Current portion of long-term debt 25 000 

Accumulated depreciation 190 000 
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CHAPTER 2: Measuring and evaluating financial position and financial performance 

PROBLEM 2.5 
Explain balance sheet ideas to a business executive 

You are the executive assistant to Stephane Solden, a particularly hard-driving and successful owner of a chain 

of restaurants. Not long ago, Solden and you were fly ing to another city, and the inflight f ilm was so bad the 

two of you ended up talking about all sorts of things. One subject was Solden's impatience with accountants 

and accounting wh ich, p robably because the annual audit of the company's accounts was then taking p lace, 

seemed particularly strong. How wou ld you respond to the following questions from Solden? 

1 'The main thing that sticks in my mind about the balance sheet is that the thing ba lances! Who cares? Why 

should it matter?' 

2 'My auditor keeps wanting to tal k to me about what the balance sheet says about the company's f inances 

and how I've managed them. But I always look to the future - why shou ld I ca re about the balance sheet 

when it's just a "snapshot" of history?' 

3 'Last year, I had a really good idea about the balance sheet. You know, I consider our restaurant managers 

to be the most important asset the company has. I was going to have the managers added to the balance 

sheet as assets, so it would show all our assets. But the accountants and aud itors didn't seem interested in 

my idea. Why not?' 

Required: 
Classify each item as it wou ld be reported on a balance sheet using the fol lowing categories: current asset, 

noncurrent asset, current liabi lity, noncurrent liability and shareholders' equity. 

PROBLEM 2.6 
Prepare a classified balance sheet 

From the fo llowing information, prepare an appropriately classified balance sheet as at 30 June 2019 for SPOM 

Limited. 

PROBLEM 2.7 

Share capita l 

Cash 

Accounts payable 

Retained profits 

Receivables ($1 549 000 due in more than one year) 

Interest-bearing liabilities ($8 732 000 due this year) 

Intangibles 

Inventories 

Provisions ($31 704 000 due with in one year) 

Property, plant and equipment 

Other long-term assets (financial assets) 

Prepayments 

Basic retained profits ideas 

Assume a ba lance of $12 220 for retained p rofit at 30 June 2019. 

1 Expla in what ' reta ined profits' represents. 

$000 

71 667 

32 000 

57 634 

42 666 

49 132 

96 185 

49 053 

55 117 

35 438 

90 574 

19 390 

8 324 

2 For the year ended 30 June 2019, the company's revenues were $101 160 and its expenses (including 

income tax) were $98 810. During the yea r ended 30 June 2019, the company declared dividends of 

$1200. What was the balance in retained p rofits at the beginning of that year (1 July 2019)? 

3 If the 2019 expenses were $1 16 000 instead of t he f igure in point 2, and the company did not declare any 

dividends, what would the reta ined p rofits be at 30 June 2019? How would you interpret this number? 
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